Annual Financial Report at December 31, 2013

Consolidated Financial Statements

EXPLANATORY NOTES
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Pirelli & C. S.p.A. is a corporation organised under the
laws of the Republic of Italy.
Founded in 1872 and listed on the Italian Stock Exchange,
Pirelli & C. S.p.A. is a holding company that manages,
coordinates and finances the operations of its subsidiaries, which are mainly active in the tyre sector. Other
activities relate to the emissions control technologies,
renewable energy sources and fashion industries.
The head office of the company is located in Milan,
Italy.
Pursuant to Article 5(2) of Italian Legislative Decree
38 of February 28, 2005, these financial statements
have been prepared using the euro as the functional
currency, and all amounts have been rounded to the
nearest thousand euro unless indicated otherwise.
The consolidated financial statements are audited by
Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A., pursuant to Article 159 of
Italian Legislative Decree 58 of February 24, 1998, the
Consob recommendation of February 20, 1997, and the
shareholders’ meeting resolution of April 29, 2008, which
engaged this accounting firm for the period 2008-2016.
On March 27, 2014 the Board of Directors authorised
publication of these consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Financial statement formats
The Company has applied the provisions of Consob
Resolution no. 15519 of July 27, 2006 in regard to the
formats of financial statements and Consob Notice
no. 6064293 of July 28, 2006 in regard to corporate
disclosure.
The consolidated financial statements at December 31,
2013 consist of the Statement of Financial Position, the
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Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the Explanatory Notes, and are
accompanied by the Directors’ Report on Operations.
The format adopted for the Statement of Financial
Position classifies assets and liabilities as current and
non-current.
The Group has opted to present the components of
profit or loss for the year in a separate Income Statement, rather than include these components directly in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Income
Statement classifies costs by nature.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income includes the
result for the period and, for homogeneous categories,
the revenues and costs which, in accordance with IFRSs, are recognised directly in equity.
The Group has decided to present both the tax effects
and reclassifications to the Income Statement of gains/
losses recognised directly in equity in previous periods
directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
and not in the Explanatory Notes.
The Statement of Changes in Equity sets forth transactions with equity holders and the changes in the period
of the retained earnings.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, the cash flows deriving
from operating activities are presented using the indirect method, according to which the profit or loss for
the period is adjusted by the effects of non-monetary
items, by any deferment or accrual of past or future
operating receipts or payments, and by any revenue or
cost items connected with the cash flows arising from
investing activities or financing activities.

Scope of Consolidation
The scope of consolidation includes the subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.
All companies and entities whose financial and operating policies are subject to control by the Group are
considered subsidiaries. This condition is normally satisfied when the Group owns more than half of the voting rights, unless it is clearly demonstrated that such
ownership does not confer control. Subsidiaries are
also considered to be those companies in which the
Group has the power to control their financial and op-

erating policies through agreements with other shareholders, even if it owns less than or up to one-half of
the voting rights. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements beginning on the date when control is acquired
until the time when control ceases. Non-controlling
interests in equity and net income (loss) are separately
indicated on the consolidated Statement of Financial
Position and Income Statement.
All companies over which the Group can exercise significant influence (as defined by IAS 28 – Investments in
Associates) are considered associates. This influence is
normally assumed to exist if the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting power of the investee or –
even with a smaller proportion of voting rights – it has
the power to participate in determining the financial and
operating policies of the investee on the basis of particular legal relationships. Such relationships may take
the form of shareholders’ agreements together with
other forms of significant exercise of governance rights.
Companies in which two or more parties operate a business under joint control on the basis of a contractual or
statutory agreement are considered joint ventures.
The principal changes in the scope of consolidation
during 2013 relate to:
	
the line-by-line consolidation of Sino Italian Wire
Tech. Co. Ltd, domiciled in China, previously classified as “investments in associates”, as described in
note 7 “Business combinations”;
	
reclassification of the investment in RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. from “investments in associates” to
“financial assets available for sale” as described in
notes 11 “Investments in associates and joint ventures” and 12 “Other financial assets”;
	
reclassification of the investment in PT Evoluzione
Tyres, a joint venture operating in Indonesia, from
subsidiary to joint venture.

Method of consolidation
The financial statements used for consolidation purposes are those of the companies included in the scope
of consolidation, prepared at the reporting date of the
parent and adjusted, as necessary, in accordance with

the IAS/IFRSs applied by the Group.
The financial statements expressed in foreign currencies have been translated into euro at the period-end
rates for the Statement of Financial Position and at the
average exchange rates of the period for the Income
Statement, with the exception of financial statements
of companies operating in high-inflation countries,
whose income statements are translated at the period-end exchange rates.
The differences arising from the translation of opening
equity at period-end exchange rates have been recognised in the reserve for translation differences, together
with the difference between the result for the period
translated at the period-end rate and at the average
rate for the period. The reserve for translation differences is recognised in the Income Statement upon disposal of the company that generated the reserve.
The consolidation policies may be summarised as follows:
	
subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, according to which:
the assets, liabilities, revenue, and costs in the
financial statements of subsidiaries are recognised in their full amounts, regardless of the
percentage of ownership;
the carrying amount of investments is eliminated against the underlying share of equity;
the financial and operating transactions between companies consolidated on a lineby-line basis, including dividends distributed
within the Group, are eliminated;
equity and income (loss) attributable to non
controlling interest are presented separately
in the Statement of Financial Position and Income Statement;
upon disposal of an investment with consequent loss of control, the gain or loss from that
disposal takes into account the corresponding
residual value of goodwill;
in the case of further interests acquired after
acquisition of a controlling interest, any difference between the purchase cost and the
corresponding fraction of acquired equity is
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recognised in equity. Likewise, the effects of
disposing non-controlling interests without
loss of control are also recognised in equity;
	
investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method, on the basis
of which the carrying amount of the investments is
adjusted by:
the investor’s share of the post-acquisition results of the associate or joint venture;
the allocable amount of profits and losses recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, in accordance with the applied accounting standards;
dividends paid by the associate or joint venture;
when the Group’s share in the losses of the
associate/joint venture exceeds the carrying amount of the investment in the financial
statements, the carrying amount of the investment is eliminated and the share of any further losses is recognised under “Provisions for
liabilities and charges,” to the extent that the
Group has a contractual or implicit obligation
to cover the losses;
the profits resulting from sales made by subsidiaries to joint ventures or associates are
eliminated in proportion to the percentage of
equity interest in the acquiring entity.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Adopted accounting
standards
Pursuant to Regulation 1606 issued by the European
Parliament and the European Council in July 2002,
the consolidated financial statements of the Pirelli & C.
Group have been prepared in accordance with the current International Financial Reporting Standards (“IRFSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union
at December 31, 2013, as well as the measures issued
in implementation of Article 9 of Legislative Decree
38/2005. The term “IFRSs” also refers to all revised International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and all interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), formerly known as
the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost method,
with the exception of:
	
derivative financial instruments, financial instruments held for trading, financial assets available for
sale, and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, which are measured at fair value;
	
financial statements of companies operating in hyperinflationary economies, which are prepared according to the current cost method.

Business combinations
Corporate acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method.
When a controlling interest in a company is acquired,
goodwill is initially recognised at cost and calculated as
the difference between:
	
the price paid plus any non-controlling interests in
the acquired entity. These latter interests are measured at fair value (if this option is chosen for the acquisition in question) or in proportion to the share
of the non-controlling interest in the net assets of
the acquired entity;
	
the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities.
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If this difference is negative, that difference is immediately recognised as income in the Income Statement.
In case of acquisition of control of an entity in which
a non-controlling interest is already held (step acquisition), the investment held previously must be recognised at fair value through profit or loss.
The costs for the business combination are recognised
in the Income Statement.
Contingent consideration, i.e. the obligations of the
buyer to transfer additional assets or shares to the seller
if certain future events occur or specific conditions are
fulfilled, should be recognised and measured at fair value
at the acquisition date as a portion of the consideration
transferred in exchange for the acquisition itself. Subsequent changes in the fair value of these agreements are
normally recognised in the Income Statement.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are measured
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis and
begins when the asset is available for use or operable in the opinion of management and ceases on the
date when the asset is classified as held for sale or is
derecognised.
Gains and losses resulting from the sale or disposal
of an intangible asset are determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset.
In addition to goodwill, the Group has identified other
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life.
Goodwill
Goodwill is an intangible asset with indefinite useful
life, and consequently is not amortized. Goodwill is
tested for impairment in order to identify any impairment losses at least annually or whenever there are
indications of an impairment loss, and is allocated to
cash generating units for this purpose.
Trademarks and licenses
Trademarks and licenses are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment

losses. The cost is amortised over the contract period
or the useful lives of the assets, whichever is shorter.
Software
Software license costs, including direct incidental costs,
are capitalised and recognised net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Software
is amortised over its useful life on a straight-line basis.
Customer relationships
Customer relationships are intangible assets acquired
in a business combination and are recognised on the
Statement of Financial Position at their fair value as at
the purchase date. They are amortized according to
their useful life.
Research and development costs
Research costs for new products and/or processes are
expensed when incurred. There are no development
costs that satisfy the conditions for capitalisation under IAS 38.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at their
purchase or production cost, including directly attributable incidental expenses.
Subsequent expenditure and the cost of replacing certain parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised only if they increase the future economic benefits of the related asset. All other costs are expensed
as incurred. When the cost of replacing certain parts is
capitalised, the carrying amount of the replaced part is
recognised in the Income Statement.
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, except for land, which is not depreciated and is recognised at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised starting from the month
in which the asset is available for use, or is potentially
capable of providing the economic benefits associated
with it.
Depreciation is charged monthly on a straight-line basis at rates that allow depreciating the assets until the
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end of their useful life or, in the case of disposal, until the last month of use.
The applied depreciation rates are as follows
Buildings

3% - 10%

Plant

7% - 20%

Machinery

5% - 20%

Equipment

10% - 33%

Furniture

10% - 33%

Motor vehicles

10% - 25%

Government grants related to property, plant and equipment are recognised as deferred income and credited to the
income statement over the period of depreciation of the relevant assets.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the purchase, construction or production of a qualifying asset (defined as
an asset that requires significant amount of time in order to be prepared for use) are capitalised as part of the cost of
the asset. The capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to render the
qualifying asset available for use have been completed.
Leasehold improvements are classified as property, plant and equipment, consistently with the nature of the cost
incurred. The depreciation period corresponds to the shorter between the remaining useful life of the asset or the
residual period of the lease agreement.
Spare parts of significant value are capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the assets to which
they refer.
Any dismantling costs are estimated and added to the cost of property, plant and equipment with a corresponding
accrual to provisions for liabilities and charges if the conditions for accruing such provisions are met. They are then
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the assets to which they refer.
Assets acquired under finance lease agreements, in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the Group, are recognised as property, plant and equipment at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a corresponding entry for the relevant financial payable. The lease
instalment payments are allocated between interest expense, recognised in the Income Statement, and principal
repayment, which reduces the financial payable.
Leases in which the lessor maintains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership are classified
as operating leases. The costs referring to an operating lease are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Property, plant and equipment are derecognised at the time of disposal or retirement from use and, consequently,
when no future economic benefits are expected to derive from their sale or use.
Gains and losses resulting from the sale or disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of the asset.
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Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Whenever there are specific indicators of impairment,
and at least annually for intangible assets with indefinite useful life, including goodwill, the property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets are tested for
impairment.
The test consists of an estimate of the recoverable
amount of the asset and a comparison with its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, where the
latter is the present value of the expected future cash
flows arising from the use of the asset and those deriving from its disposal at the end of its useful life, excluding income taxes and applying a discount rate, which
should be the post-tax rate which reflects the current
market assessments of the time value of the money and
the risks specific to the asset. There is no need to estimate both amounts because it is sufficient to verify
that one of the two amounts is higher than the carrying
amount to establish that no impairment has occurred.
If the recoverable amount is lower than the asset carrying amount, the latter is reduced to the recoverable
amount. This reduction constitutes an impairment
loss, which is recognised in the Income Statement.
In order to assess impairment, assets are allocated to
the lowest level at which independent cash flows are
separately identifiable (cash generating units).
Specifically, goodwill must be allocated to the cash
generating unit or group of cash generating units,
complying with the maximum level of aggregation
allowed, which must never be greater than the operating segment.
When there is evidence that an impairment loss recognised in previous years and relating to property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or can be reduced, the recoverable amount is estimated again. If it is higher than
the net carrying amount, then the net carrying amount
should be increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. The reversal of an impairment loss
may not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been recognised (net of impairment and depreciation

or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in previous years.
The reversal of an impairment loss other than goodwill
is recognised in the Income Statement.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill may not
be reversed in subsequent years.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill on the interim financial statements may not be reversed in the
subsequent annual period.
Investments in associates and joint ventures
When there are indicators of impairment, the value of
investments in associates and joint ventures accounted
for under the equity method must be compared with
the recoverable amount (impairment test). The recoverable amount corresponds to the higher between the
fair value less costs to sell, and the value in use.
For the purposes of impairment testing, the fair value
of an investment in an associate or joint venture with
shares listed on an active market is always equivalent
to its market value, irrespective of the percentage of
ownership. The fair value of investments in unlisted
financial instruments is assessed through estimates
based on the best information available.
To determine the value in use of an associate or joint
venture proportionally to the percentage of shares
owned, the discounted value of future cash flows that
are expected to be generated by the associate or joint
venture is estimated, including cash flows deriving
from the operating activities of the associate or joint
venture and the consideration that will be received
upon final disposal of the investment (known as the
discounted cash flow – asset side method).
If there is evidence that an impairment loss recognised in previous years may no longer exist or can be
reduced, the recoverable amount of the investment is
estimated again, and if it is higher than the amount of
the investment, then the latter amount should be increased up to the recoverable amount.
The reversal of an impairment loss may not exceed the
amount of the investment that would have been recognised (net of impairment) had no impairment loss
been recognised in previous years.
The reversal of an impairment loss on investments in
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associates and joint ventures is recognised in the Income Statement.

Financial assets available for sale
Financial assets available for sale include investments
in entities other than subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures and other financial assets not held for trading.
They are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as “Other financial assets.”
They are measured at fair value, if this can be reliably
determined.
Gains and losses deriving from changes in fair value are
recognised in a specific equity reserve.
When a reduction in fair value has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective evidence that the
asset was impaired, the losses recognised up to that
time in equity are reversed in the Income Statement. A
prolonged (meaning more than 12 months) or significant (meaning more than 50% for instruments issued
by entities operating in banking sector and more than
one-third for instruments issued by entities operating
in other sectors) reduction in the fair value of equity
instruments and as compared with their cost is considered an indicator of impairment. Starting from the
half-year financial statements at June 30, 2012, the
quantitative limit was raised from one-third to 50% for
banking sector financial instruments due to the exceptional increase in volatility of the sector.
This threshold revision was determined on the basis
of the updated historical analysis carried out in 2008
and only reflects the adjustments in the new conditions. The significant increase in volatility of the financial markets and particularly in the banking sector has
caused a series of exceptional circumstances to arise.
Therefore, it was decided to revise the quantitative
threshold for assessing impairment losses with regard
to the securities related to this sector. Instead, there has
been no change in the definition of the threshold duration of impairment losses (12 months).
In the event of disposal, the gains and losses recognised up to that time in equity are reversed in the Income Statement.
Any impairment losses of a financial asset available for
sale recognised in the Income Statement may be re-
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versed through the Income Statement, with the exception of those recognised for stocks classified as available for sale, which may not be reversed through the
Income Statement.
Financial assets available for sale, whether debt or equity instruments for which fair value is not available,
are accounted for at cost, reduced by any impairment
losses based on the best market information available
at the reporting date.
Purchases and sales of financial assets available for sale
are accounted for at the settlement date.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost, determined under the FIFO method, and their estimated realisable value.
The measurement of inventories includes direct costs
of materials and labour and indirect costs. Provisions
are calculated for obsolete and slow-moving inventories, taking into account their expected future use and
estimated realisable value. The realisable value is the
estimated selling price, net of all costs estimated to
complete the asset and selling and distribution costs
that will be incurred.
Cost includes incremental expenses and borrowing
costs qualifying for capitalisation, similarly to what has
been described for property, plant and equipment.

Receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at their fair value, which normally corresponds to the consideration
agreed or to the present value of the amount that will
be collected. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provisions for impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated by using the effective interest
rate method, which is equivalent to the discount rate
that, when applied to future cash flows, renders the
present value of such cash flows equal to the initial fair
value. Impairment losses on receivables are calculated according to counterparty default risk, which is determined by considering available information on the
solvency of the counterparty and historical data. The
carrying amount of receivables is reduced indirectly by
accruing provisions. Individual material positions that
are objectively found to be partially or entirely uncollectable are impaired individually.
The amount of the impairment loss reflects the estimate of future recoverable flows and the applicable
date of collection, recovery costs and expenses, and
the fair value of guarantees, if any. The positions that
are not written down individually are included in
groups with similar characteristics in terms of credit
risk, and they are impaired as a group on an increasing
percentage basis as the period during which they are
overdue increases. The Group impairment procedure
also applies to receivables not yet due. The impairment
percentages are determined on the basis of historical
experience and statistical data. When the conditions
that led to impairment of the receivables no longer
exist, the impairment losses recognised in previous
periods are reversed in the Income Statement up to
the amortised cost that would have been recognised
had no impairment loss been recognised. Receivables in currencies other than the functional currency
of the individual companies are adjusted to the yearend exchange rates, with a balancing entry in the Income Statement. Receivables are derecognised when
the right to receive cash flows is extinguished, when
substantially all the risks and rewards connected with
holding the receivable have been transferred, or when
the receivable is considered definitely uncollectable after all necessary credit recovery procedures have been

completed. When the receivable is derecognised, the
relative provision is also derecognised, if the receivable
had previously been impaired.

Payables
Payables are initially recognised at their fair value, which
normally corresponds to the consideration agreed or to
the present value of the amount that will be paid. They
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by using the effective interest
rate method, which is equivalent to the discount rate
that, when applied to future cash flows, renders the
present value of such flows equal to the initial fair value.
Payables in currencies other than the functional currency of the individual companies are adjusted to the
year-end exchange rates, with a balancing entry in the
Income Statement. Payables are derecognised when
the specific contractual obligation is extinguished.

Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss
This category includes financial instruments mainly
purchased to be sold in the short term and classified
under current assets as “Securities held for trading,” financial assets that are initially recognised at fair value
through profit or loss, classified as “Other financial assets,” and derivatives (except those designated as effective hedging instruments), classified as “Derivative
financial instruments.”
They are measured at fair value with a balancing entry in the Income Statement. Transaction costs are expensed in the Income Statement.
Purchases and sales of these financial assets are accounted for at the settlement date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits, postal deposits, cash and cash equivalents on hand, and
other forms of short-term investment whose original
maturity is three months or less. Current account overdrafts are recognised as current liabilities under financial payables. The amounts included in cash and cash
equivalents are recognised at their fair value and any
changes are recognised in the Income Statement.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions for liabilities and charges include accruals
for current obligations (legal or constructive) deriving from a past event, for the fulfilment of which an
outflow of resources will probably be necessary and
whose amount can be reliably estimated.
Changes in estimates are recognised in the Income
Statement of the period when the change occurs.
If the effect of discounting is material, provisions are
presented at their present value.

Derivative financial instruments
designated as hedging instruments
In accordance with IAS 39, hedging instruments are
subject to hedge accounting only when:
	
formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship between the hedging derivative and
the hedged item exist at the beginning of the hedge;
	
it is expected that the hedge will be highly effective;
	
its effectiveness can be measured reliably;
	
the hedge is highly effective during the various accounting periods for which it is designated.

Employee benefit obligations
Employee benefits paid after termination of the employment relationship under defined benefit plans and
other long-term benefits are subject to actuarial measurements. The liability recognised in the financial statements is the present value of the Group’s obligation, net
of the fair value of any plan assets.
For defined benefit plans, actuarial gains and losses deriving from adjustments based on past experience and
changes in actuarial assumptions are fully recognised in
equity for the year in which they occur.
For other long-term benefits, actuarial gains and losses
are recognised immediately in the Income Statement.
The provision for employees' leaving indemnities (TFR)
of Italian companies with at least 50 employees is considered a defined benefit plan only for the portion accrued prior to January 1, 2007 (and not yet paid at the
reporting date), whereas subsequent to that date, it is
considered a defined contribution plan.
The net interest calculated on net liabilities is classified
under financial expenses.
The costs relating to defined contribution plans are recognised in the Income Statement when incurred.

These derivative instruments are recognised at fair value.
The following accounting treatments are applied based
on the type of hedge:
	
Fair value hedge – if a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge against exposure to
changes in the fair value of an asset or liability attributable to a specific risk, the gain or loss resulting
from subsequent changes in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in the Income Statement. For the portion attributable to the hedged
risk, the gain or loss on the hedged item modifies
the carrying value of that item (basis adjustment),
and it too is recognised in the Income Statement;
	
Cash flow hedge – if a derivative instrument is designated as a hedge against exposure to the variable
cash flow of an asset or liability recognised in the
Statement of Financial Position or a highly probable future transaction, the effective portion of the
change in fair value of the hedging instrument is
recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective
portion is immediately recognised in the Income
Statement. The amounts recognised directly in equity are reversed to the Income Statement in the
year when the hedged item produces an effect on
the Income Statement.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised or no longer meets the criteria to be
designated as a hedge, or whenever the Group voluntarily revokes the designation, hedge accounting is interrupted. The fair value adjustments accumulated in
equity will not be reversed until the hedged item pro-
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duces an effect in the Income Statement. Subsequently
they are reversed in the Income Statement over the periods in which the acquired financial asset or assumed
financial liability impact the Income Statement.
When the hedged item is no longer expected to have
any impact on the Income Statement, the fair value adjustments accumulated in equity are immediately reversed in the Income Statement.
For the derivative instruments that do not satisfy the
prerequisites established by IAS for adoption of hedge
accounting, please see the section “Financial assets at
fair value through profit & loss”.
Purchases and sales of these derivative financial instruments are accounted for at the settlement date.

Determination of the fair value
of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments traded on an
active market is based on listed market prices at the
reporting date. The listed market price used for financial assets is the bid price, while for financial liabilities
it is the ask price. The fair value of instruments that are
not traded on an active market is determined by using
measurement techniques with a variety of methods
and assumptions that are based on market conditions
at the reporting date.
The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of expected future cash flows.
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined by using the forward rate at the reporting date.

there is a likelihood of future recovery.
Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when the income taxes are levied by the same tax authority and when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
according to enacted tax rates that are expected to be
applicable to taxable income in the years when those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled, with reference to the jurisdictions where the
Group operates.
The deferred tax liabilities related to investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are not recognised if the participating entity can control the turnover of temporary differences and they are unlikely to
arise in the foreseeable future.
Deferred taxes are not discounted.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are credited or debited to equity if they refer to items that have been credited or debited directly in equity during the period or
during previous periods.

Equity
Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recognised as a reduction in equity.
If they are sold, reissued or cancelled, the resulting
gains or losses are recognised in equity.
Costs of equity transactions
Costs that are directly attributable to equity transactions
of the parent are recognised as a reduction in equity.

Income taxes
Current taxes are determined on the basis of a realistic
forecast of the taxes payable under the current tax law
of the country.
Deferred taxes are calculated according to the temporary differences existing between the asset and the liability amounts in the Statement of Financial Position
and their tax basis (full liability method), and are classified under non-current assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets on tax loss carry-forwards, as well
as on temporary differences, are only recognised when
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Recognition of revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received for the sale of products or provision
of services.
Sales of products
Revenue from sale of products is recognised when all
the following conditions are met:
	
the material risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods are transferred to the buyer;
	
effective control over the goods and the normal
continuing level of activities associated with ownership have ceased;
	
the amount of revenue is reliably determined;
	
it is likely that the economic benefits deriving from
the sale will be enjoyed by the enterprise;
	
the costs incurred or to be incurred are determined
reliably.
If the nature and extent of involvement of the seller are
such that the risks and rewards of ownership are not in
fact transferred, then the recognition date of the revenues is deferred until the date on which this transfer
can be considered to have taken place.
Provision of services
Revenue from provision of services is recognised only
when the results of the transaction can be measured
reliably, by reference to the state of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date.
The results of a transaction can be measured reliably
only when all the following conditions are met:
	
the amount of revenue can be determined reliably;
	
it is likely that the company will enjoy the economic
benefits of the transaction;
	
the stage of completion of the transaction at the
reporting date can be reliably measured;
	
the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs
to be incurred to complete it can be determined
reliably.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis that considers the effective return of the asset.
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Royalties
Royalties are recognised on an accrual basis, according
to the substance of the relevant agreement.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established, which normally corresponds to the resolution approved by the Shareholders’
Meeting for the distribution of dividends.

Earnings (losses) per share
Earnings (losses) per share are calculated by dividing
the income (loss) attributable to the equity holders of
the company by the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year. To calculate diluted
earnings per share, the weighted average number of
outstanding shares is adjusted by assuming the conversion of all shares having a potentially dilutive effect.

Operating segments
The operating segment is a part of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results
are regularly reviewed by top management in view of
making decisions about resources to be allocated to
the segment and assessing its performance, and for
which discrete financial information is available.

Accounting policies
for hyperinflationary countries
Group companies operating in high-inflation countries
recalculate the amounts of their non-monetary assets
and liabilities in their individual financial statements to
eliminate the distorting effects caused by the loss of
purchasing power of the currency. The inflation rate
used to implement the inflation accounting corresponds to the consumer price index.
Companies operating in countries where the cumulative inflation rate over a three-year period approximates or exceeds 100% adopt inflation accounting and
discontinue it in the event that the cumulative inflation
rate over a three-year period falls below 100%.
Gains or losses on the net monetary position are recognised in the Income Statement.

Non-current assets held for sale
and disposal groups
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying value is recovered mainly
through sale rather than through continuous use. This
occurs if the non-current asset or disposal group are
available for sale under current conditions and the sale
is highly probable, or if a binding program for sale has
already begun, activities to find a buyer have already
commenced and it is expected that the sale will be
completed within one year after the classification date.
On the consolidated Statement of Financial Position,
the non-current assets held for sale and the current
and non-current assets/liabilities of the disposal group
are presented as a separate item from other assets and
liabilities, and their totals are reflected in current assets
and liabilities, respectively.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and disposal groups are measured at the lower between carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component that has
been disposed of or classified as held for sale and that
represents an important business unit or geographical
area of activity, and pertains to a single, coordinated
disposal programme.
On the consolidated Income Statement for the period,
the net result of the discontinued operations, as well as
the gain or loss resulting from fair value measurement
net of the costs of sale or from disposal of the assets
or disposal groups constituting the discontinued operation are combined in a single item at the end of the
Income Statement separately from the result for continuing operations.
The cash flows for discontinued operations are shown
separately in the statement of cash flows.
The foregoing information is also presented for the
comparative period.

3.2 Accounting standards
and interpretations
endorsed and in force
from January 1, 2013
	
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial
Statements – Presentation of other components
recognised in equity
	
T he principal changes to IAS 1 concern the new
presentation of the components of the statement
of comprehensive income: the other components
recognised in equity will have to be grouped between those that may be recycled in future on the
income statement and those for which this possibility is not envisaged.
	
T he following are examples of reclassification on
the Income Statement: translation differences, fair
value adjustment of cash flow hedge derivatives,
fair value adjustment of financial assets available
for sale. Actuarial gains/losses for defined benefit
pension plans are an example of items that cannot
be reclassified in the Income Statement.
	
T hese changes are reflected in the statement of
other comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 as comparative.
	
Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits
	
Amendments to IAS 19 are focused on the procedures used to account for defined benefit plans,
other long-term benefit plans and termination
benefits. The principal changes from the current
standard relate to:
defined benefit plans. Actuarial gains/losses

(renamed "remeasurements") must be immediately and fully recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income. The option that allowed not recognising actuarial gains/losses if
they fell within a certain “corridor” (“corridor
approach”) has been eliminated;
elimination of the “expected return on plan
assets” and “interest expense,” which will be
replaced by a new quantity called “net interest,” calculated by applying the discount rate
now used only for the gross liability to the net
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liability (i.e. the gross liability net of the assets servicing the plan);
r equest for additional information to be disclosed in the explanatory notes to the financial statements for a
better understanding of the risks related to defined benefit plans;
termination benefits: the benefits for termination of the employment relationship (“termination benefits”) are
recognised at the earliest date between when the Group may no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs.
The transition to the new accounting standard has not had any impact on equity at January 1, 2012. The elimination
of “Expected return on plan assets” and the “Interest expense”, replaced by the “Net interest”, has caused the restatement of 2012 figures. Moreover, beginning January 1, 2013, net interest is classified as financial expenses, and no
longer as a component of the operating result.
The effects on the Income Statement and equity at December 31, 2012 are summarised in the following table
(in thousands of euro)

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2012
reported

restated

change

Operating income

780,791

792,472

11,681

Net income

398,236

391,560

(6,676)

Reserve

647,908

654,584

6,676

2,389,429

2,389,429

0

Equity

	
Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes – Deferred Taxes: recovery of underlying assets
	
IAS 12 requires measurement of deferred taxes related to an asset or liability according to whether the carrying
amount of the asset is recovered through use or through sale. In the case of assets carried at fair value pursuant
to IAS 40 – Investment Property, determining whether recovery is realised through use or sale might be difficult and subjective. These changes offer a practical solution to the problem, by allowing the assumption that
investment property will be recovered entirely through sale. Consequently, SIC 21 – Income Taxes – Recovery of
Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets is no longer applicable to investment property carried at fair value. The guidelines of SIC 21 that are still applicable have been incorporated in the amended version of IAS 12, and SIC 21 was
consequently abrogated.
	
T hese changes are not applicable to the Group.
	
Amendments to IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards – Severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates on first-time adoption
	
T he amendments introduced relate to:
guidelines for preparing financial statements in accordance with IFRS after a period when application of IFRS
was suspended due to hyperinflation;
removal of fixed dates on first-time adoption. Entities, first time adopters, will apply the requirements for
derecognition of financial assets and liabilities prospectively, i.e. they are no longer obliged to reconstruct
transactions occurred before first-time adoption of IFRS and that led to the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities.
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T hese changes are not applicable to the Group.
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
	
IFRS 13 introduces unique guidelines for determining fair value and required disclosures. The standard does not
extend the use of fair value, but it provides rules for its determination and application when other principles allow or
require it to be used. IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosure on the fair value, a portion of which substitutes the disclosure requirements previously envisaged by other standards, including IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosure.
	
T he application of IFRS 13 has not had a material impact on the Group financial statements.
	
Amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosure – Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities
	
T hese amendments introduce the obligation of providing full disclosure in the notes of financial assets and liabilities offset on the basis of a statutory right to offsetting (e.g. net and gross amounts, guarantees granted and held).
Amendments to IFRS 1 – Government Loans
	
T hese amendments refer to government loans received at below-market rates and during transition allow adoption of the same accounting treatment applicable to financial statements that already use IFRS, rather than apply
IAS 20, "Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance" on a fully retrospective basis.
	
T hese changes are not applicable to the Group.
“Improvements” to IFRSs between 2009 and 2011 (issued by the IASB in May 2012)
	
As part of the project begun in 2009, the IASB has issued a series of amendments to five current standards. The
following table summarises the standards and issues addressed by these amendments
IFRS

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards

Subject of the amendment
A
 n entity may apply IFRS 1 more than once in specific circumstances, for example when IFRS are actually adopted for the
first time and after a period of suspended application of IFRS;
a
 n entity may choose to adopt IAS 23 "Borrowing costs" during
transition to IFRS or beginning from a prior date.

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements

Clarifications with regard to the comparative data that must be
presented when an entity publishes three Statements of Financial
Position on a voluntary basis or if required by IAS 8 – “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”.

IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment

Classification of spare parts and servicing equipment as plant and
machinery, and not as inventory, when they satisfy the definition
provided in IAS 16.

IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation

Recognition of the tax effect on dividends paid to shareholders (in
the Income Statement) and transaction costs (in equity).

IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting

Clarification on the disclosure of all assets and liabilities of operating segments in interim financial statements.

These changes have not had a significant impact on the Group consolidated financial statements.
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3.3 International
Accounting Standards
and/or interpretations
that have been issued
but not yet in force
and/or endorsed
Pursuant to IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the new standards and/
or interpretations that have been issued but were not
yet in force or not yet endorsed by the European Union
at December 31, 2013, and which are therefore not applicable, are mentioned and described briefly as follows.
None of these standards and interpretations has been
early adopted by the Group.
 mendments to IAS 32 – Financial Instruments:
A
Presentation – Offsetting of financial assets and
liabilities
T hese amendments better clarify the requirements
for offsetting financial assets and liabilities, already
provided in the standard, i.e.
the meaning of currently having the statutory
right to offset financial assets and liabilities;
the fact that in certain cases, realisation of the
asset at the same time as extinguishment of
the liability may be considered de facto extinguishment of a net amount.
 hese amendments were endorsed by the EuroT
pean Union in December 2012 (EC Regulation no.
1256/2012) and are applicable from January 1, 2014.
Application of these amendments has no impact on
the Group financial statements.
I FRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
The new standard replaces IAS 27 – Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements – for the portion
relating to the consolidated financial statements –
and SIC 12 – Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. Following the issuance of the new standard,
IAS 27 – renamed “Separate Financial Statements” –
contains the principles and guidelines to be used in
preparing the separate financial statements.
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 he new version of IFRS 10 sets out just one control
T
model that applies to all associates and joint ventures and represents the key factor in determining
whether an associate or joint venture have to be
consolidated. Accounting treatment and consolidation procedures have not changed from what is
currently envisaged in IAS 27.
 he new control model introduces a greater degree
T
of subjectivity and requires management to exercise
a higher degree of judgement to determine whether
an entity is controlled and thus has to be consolidated. This new standard also explicitly envisages
the possibility of controlling an entity even in the
absence of a majority of votes (de facto control), a
concept that was not explicitly stated in IAS 27.
This standard was endorsed by the European Union
in December 2012 (EC Regulation no. 1254/2012)
and will come into force on January 1, 2014.
No impact on the consolidated financial statements
is expected.
I FRS 11 – Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures,
and SIC 13 – Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers and defines the
benchmark principles for representation of the joint
arrangements. The new standard distinguishes two
categories of joint arrangements associated with
different accounting treatment:
joint operations: these are agreements that
give the parties of the agreement, which have
joint control of the initiative, rights to the individual activity and obligations for the individual liabilities related to the agreement. In
case of joint operations, the assets, liabilities,
costs and revenue of the agreement must be
recognised on the basis of the applicable accounting standards;
joint ventures: a joint venture exists when the
parties, which have joint control of the venture, do not have rights or obligations in relation to the individual assets or liabilities covered by the agreement, but only in relation

to the net assets or net income (loss) of the
venture. Joint ventures must be consolidated
under the equity method, while IAS 31 allowed
the option of choosing between proportional
consolidation method and consolidation under the equity method.
	To determine what category a joint arrangement
falls in, the substance of the agreement must be
considered on the basis of the rights and obligations defined therein.
	
This standard was endorsed by the European Union
in December 2012 (EC Regulation no. 1254/2012) and
will come into force on January 1, 2014. No impact
on the consolidated financial statements is expected.
I FRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 sets out – and extend – all the requirements
governing the disclosure to be provided with regard to subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements
and other investments (“structured entities”). Many
of the disclosures as per IFRS 12 were previously
required by IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, IAS 28 – Investments in Associates, and IAS 31 – Interests in Joint Ventures,
while others are new.
T his standard was endorsed by the European Union
in December 2012 (EC Regulation no. 1254/2012)
and will come into force on January 1, 2014.
Application of this standard will have an impact on
consolidated financial statement disclosures, and
in particular with regard to the disclosure on subsidiaries.
IAS 28 – Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures
Following the introduction of the new IFRS 10 and
12, IAS 28 has been renamed “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” and sets out the application of the equity method for investments in joint
ventures, in addition to associates. These amendments were endorsed by the European Union in
December 2012 (EC Regulation no. 1254/2012) and
came into force on January 1, 2014. Application of

these amendments will not have any impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
 mendments to IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial
A
Statements, IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements and
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
– Transition Guide
T hese amendments clarify the transitory rules for
application of IFRS 10, which have been found too
onerous. They also limit the obligation to provide
restated comparative data only for the comparative period preceding first-time application of IFRS
10, 11 and 12.
These amendments were endorsed by the European
Union in April 2013 (EC Regulation no. 313/2013) and
are applicable from January 1, 2014. The application
of these amendments will impact the disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
 mendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 – InA
vestment Entities
T hese amendments apply to a specific class of assets defined as "investment entities," whose corporate purpose consists of investing funds in order to realise capital gains or appreciation of the
invested capital, or both. Examples of such entities
include private equity and venture capital firms,
pension funds, and other investment funds. As a
consequence of these amendments, the companies controlled by investment entities must not be
consolidated on a straight-line basis but instead
recognised at fair value through profit or loss.
T hese amendments were endorsed by the European Union in November 2013 (EC Regulation no.
1174/2013) and are applicable from January 1, 2014.
These changes are not applicable to the Group.
 mendments to IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets –
A
Recoverable amounts disclosures for non-financial assets
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement requires additional disclosure on the recoverable amount of
non-financial assets. The amendments to IAS 36
– Impairment of Assets require the publication of
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such disclosures only if the recoverable amount is
based on the fair value net of disposal costs.
T hese amendments were endorsed by the European Union in December 2013 (EC Regulation
no. 1374/2013) and are applicable from January 1,
2014. No impact is expected on the disclosures in
the explanatory notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
 mendments to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments:
A
Recognition and Measurement – Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting
These amendments, introduced as a consequence
of the legislative changes which it is believed will
lead to several novations of derivatives, allow the
continuation of hedge accounting if derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are modified to execute clearing with a central counterparty in response to legal obligations,
provided that they have satisfied certain conditions.
In such case, the novation indicates that the parties
to a contract agree to replace the original counterparty with a new one.
This amendment will also result in amendment of
IFRS 9.
T hese amendments were endorsed by the European Union in December 2013 (EC Regulation no.
1375/2013) and are applicable from January 1, 2014.
No impact on the consolidated financial statements is expected.
I FRIC 21 – Levies
This interpretation clarifies the accounting treatment
of tax liabilities and government levies other than income taxes. In particular, it defines the time when an
entity may recognise these liabilities. Pursuant to IAS
37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, one of the prerequisites for recognition
of a liability is the existence of a current liability resulting from a past event. This interpretation clarifies
that the liability is represented by the asset described
in legislation and on which the requested payment
of levies or taxes is based.
T his interpretation, which was expected to come
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into force effective January 1, 2014, has not yet
been endorsed by the European Union. It is not expected that future application of this interpretation
will have any impact.
Amendments to IAS 19 – Employee Benefits – Defined benefit plans: contributions by employees
or third parties
Certain retirement funds require that employees
or third parties contribute to the fund itself. These
contributions reduce the cost of the benefit to the
employer and were previously deducted from the
cost of benefits accrued during the year when the
contributions were paid. These amendments introduce the distinction between the following types
of contributions:
contributions related to the service provided
only in the period when they occur and which
do not change according to the duration of the
service: they must be deducted from the coast
of benefits accrued during the period when the
service is provided;
contributions related to the service provided
over several periods and which vary according to the duration of the service: they must
be recognised in the income statement on a
straight-line basis according to the duration of
the service itself;
contributions unrelated to the service provided: they must be included in the measurement
of the liability and recognised in equity.
These amendments, which are expected to come
into force effective July 1, 2014, have not yet been
endorsed by the European Union.
It is not expected that future application of these
amendments will have any impact.

“ Improvements” to IFRSs between 2010 and 2012 (issued by the IASB in December 2013)
T he IASB has issued a series of amendments to seven standards that are currently in force. The following table
summarises the standards and issues addressed by these amendments
IFRS

Subject of the amendment

IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment

Definitions of “vesting conditions”, “service conditions” and “performance conditions” are clarified.

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations (Basis for conclusions)

Recognition of the “contingent consideration” in a business combination: the contingent consideration may not be recognised in equity.
D
 escription of operating segments deriving from business combination and logic applied to combine them.
R
 econciliation of the total amount of assets in the segments being
reported with the total assets of the entity must be provided only if
this reconciliation is periodically provided to the highest operating
decision-making level.

IFRS 8 – Operating Segments

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

Short-term payables and receivables not subject to a pre-set interest
rate may continue to be measured at their original value if discounting
has a negligible effect.

IAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS 38 – Intangible Assets

Method for recalculation of value – proportionate recalculation of accumulated amortisation

IAS 24 – Related Party Disclosures

It is clarified that if an entity provides key management services to
another entity without the individuals being employees of the latter, the
two entities must be considered related parties.

These amendments, which are expected to come into force beginning July 1, 2014, with the exception of the amendments to IFRS 13, which have been applicable since December 31, 2013, have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. The amendments to IFRS 2, IAS 16 and IAS 38 are not applicable to the Group. It is not expected that the
amendments to the other IAS / IFRS will have a material impact on the Group financial statements or disclosures.
“ Improvements” to IFRSs between 2011 and 2013 (issued by the IASB in December 2013)
T he IASB has issued a series of amendments to four standards that are currently in force. The following table
summarises the standards and issues addressed by these amendments
IFRS

Subject of the amendment

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards (Basis for conclusions)

Meaning of “IFRS in force”: on first-time adoption of IFRSs, an entity
may choose whether to apply the IFRSs in force or those that are
not yet in force, but for which early adoption is allowed.

IFRS 3 – Business Combinations

It is clarified that IFRS 3 does not apply to the joint arrangements
introduced by IFRS 11. This exception applies only for recognition
of the joint arrangement itself in the financial statements.

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

The allowed exception to the standard for fair value measurement
of net positions exposed to market risks or credit risks (“portfolio
exception”) may be applied to financial assets, financial liabilities
and other contracts falling into the scope of IAS 39 / IAS 9 (including non-financial arrangements).

IAS 40 – Investment Property

Clarification of the interrelationships between IFRS 3 and IAS 40.
IAS 40 provides guidelines for classifying an investment as investment property or as a property for its own use. IFRS 3 provides
guidelines for determining whether the acquisition of investment
property represents a business combination.
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These amendments, which are expected to come into
force effective July 1, 2014, have not yet been endorsed
by the European Union. No impact on the Group financial statements is expected.
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (issued in No
vember 2009 and October 2010) and subsequent
amendments (issued in December 2011 and November 2013)
IFRS 9 will ultimately supplant IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and has
the principal aim of reducing its complexity.
IFRS 9 was planned to be released in three distinct
phases:
Phase 1: Classification and measurement of
financial assets and liabilities.
			 In the version issued by the IASB in November
2009, the scope of IFRS 9 was limited to financial
assets only. In October 2010 the IASB amended
IFRS 9 adding the requirements for classification
and measurement of financial liabilities, thereby
completing the first phase of the project.
			 A new Exposure draft was issued in November
2012, which proposes limited amendments to
the model for recognition and measurement
of the financial instruments defined in IFRS 9,
in order to clarify certain aspects of application
and account for the interaction with other projects, including convergence with U.S. GAAP.
The Exposure Draft also proposes the introduction of a measurement category for fair
value debt instruments recognised in equity
on the basis of the entity's business model.
			 T he principal changes introduced by IFRS 9 in
regard to financial assets can be summarised
as follows:
		
financial assets may be classified in only two
categories – at fair value or at amortised
cost. The categories of loans and receivables, financial assets available for sale and
financial assets held to maturity are therefore eliminated. Classification within the
two categories is made on the basis of the
entity’s business model and on the basis of
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the features of the cash flows generated by
the assets themselves. Financial assets are
measured at amortised cost if both the following requisites are met: the entity’s business model envisages that financial assets
are held to collect their cash flows (thus,
substantially, not to make trading profits)
and the characteristics of the cash flows of
the assets correspond only to payment of
principal and interest. Otherwise, financial
assets must be measured at fair value;
the accounting rules for embedded derivatives have been simplified: separate accounting for the embedded derivative and the
“host” financial asset is no longer required;
all equity instruments – both listed and unlisted – must be measured at fair value. IAS
39 stated instead that if fair value could not
be determined reliably, unlisted equity instruments had to be measured at cost;
the entity has the option of presenting in
equity any change in the fair value of equity
instruments not held for trading, while this
option is forbidden for those held for trading.
This designation is permitted at the time of
initial recognition, may be adopted for a single financial instrument and is irrevocable.
If this option is taken, the fair value changes
of such instruments can never be reversed
from equity to the Income Statement (either
in the event of impairment or in the event of
sale). Dividends instead continue to be recognised in the Income Statement;
reclassifications between the two categories of financial assets are not allowed, except in rare cases where there is a change
in the entity's business model. In this case,
the effects of the reclassification are applied prospectively;
the disclosure required in the explanatory
notes has been adapted to the classification and measurement rules introduced
by IFRS 9;
exemption from retrospective application

of the standard to the comparative period
at the date of first-time application of IFRS 9
is allowed, if specific additional information
is provided to clarify the transition to IFRS 9.
With regard to financial liabilities, the IASB has
substantially confirmed the provisions of IAS 39,
except for the requirements applicable to the fair
value option. When the fair value option is adopted for financial liabilities, the change in fair value
attributable to the change in the issuer’s credit risk
must be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and not in the Income Statement.
Phase 2: impairment of financial instruments.
The IASB issued an initial Exposure Draft in
November 2009 and an amendment in November 2011. In March 2013 it issued a final
Exposure Draft, which contains new proposals for the impairment of financial instruments
that are based on a forecasting model where
the expected losses on receivables are recognised more punctually.
Phase 3: hedge accounting.
		 T he IASB amended IFRS 9 in November 2013
by introducing a new model for hedge accounting and related disclosure, with the principal aim of allowing entities to improve reflection of their management of financial risks
in their financial statements.
T he November 2013 amendments to IFRS 9 also
remove the mandatory application date of IFRS,
previously scheduled for January 1, 2015, insofar as
Phase 2 of the project has not yet been completed.
A new date will be set when the project is near to
completion. However, the possibility of early application has not been changed.
IFRS 9 and all related amendments have not yet
been endorsed.
It is currently not feasible to quantify the impact
resulting from future application of this standard
to the classification and measurement of financial
assets and the new hedge accounting rules. The
changes affecting financial liabilities are not applicable to the Group.

 mendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments:
A
Disclosure – First-time Application of IFRS 9
T hese amendments introduce the obligation of
providing additional quantitative information upon
transition to IFRS 9 to clarify the effects of first-time
adoption of IFRS 9 on the classification and measurement of financial instruments.
T hese amendments have not yet been endorsed
by the European Union. The impact of future application of these amendments cannot be quantified
at this time.

4. F INANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT POLICIES
The Group is exposed to financial risks. These are principally associated with foreign exchange rates, fluctuations in interest rates, the price of financial assets held
as investments, the ability of customers to meet their
obligations to the Group (credit risk), and raising funds
on the market (liquidity risk).
Financial risk management is an integral part of Group
business management and is handled directly by the
headquarters in accordance with guidelines issued by
the Finance Department on the basis of general risk
management strategies defined by the Managerial
Risk Committee.

4.1 T ypes of financial risks
Exchange rate risk
The geographical distribution of Group production
and commercial activities entails exposure to transaction and translation exchange rate risk.
 ransaction exchange rate risk
T
	
This risk is generated by the commercial and financial transactions of the individual companies that
are executed in currencies other than the functional
currency. Exchange rate fluctuations between the
time when the commercial or financial relationship
is established and when the transaction is completed (collection or payment) may generate foreign ex-

3
6
1

Annual Financial Report at December 31, 2013

Consolidated Financial Statements

change gains or losses.
	
The Group aims to minimise the impact of transaction exchange rate risk related to volatility. To do so,
Group procedures make the operating units responsible for collecting complete information about the
assets and liabilities that are subject to transaction
exchange rate risk. This risk is hedged with forward
contracts made with the Group Treasury.
	
The items subject to exchange rate risk are mainly
represented by receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency.
	
The Group Treasury is responsible for hedging the
net position for each currency. In accordance with
established guidelines and restrictions, it closes all
risk positions by trading derivative hedging contracts on the market, which typically take the form
of forward contracts.
	
The Group has decided not to opt for hedge accounting pursuant to IAS 39, insofar as representation of the effects of the transaction exchange risk
hedging strategy in the income statement and equity is substantially guaranteed even without adopting hedge accounting.
	
Furthermore, as part of the annual and three-year
planning process, the Group makes exchange rate
forecasts by using the best information available
on the market. The fluctuation in exchange rates
between the time when the forecast is made and
the time when the commercial or financial transaction occur represents the exchange rate risk on
future transactions.
	
In accordance with established policy, the Group
monitors the opportunity to hedge future transactions, with each hedge being authorised by the Finance Department on a case-by-case basis. Hedge
accounting in accordance with IAS 39 is used when
the conditions are met.
 urrency translation risk
C
	The Group owns controlling interests in companies
that prepare their financial statements in currencies
other than the euro, which is used to prepare the
consolidated financial statements. This exposes the
Group to currency translation risk, which is gener-
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ated by the conversion into euro of the assets and
liabilities of these subsidiaries.
	
The principal exposures to currency translation
risk are constantly monitored, but it is not currently deemed necessary to adopt specific policies to
hedge this exposure.
	
About 25% of total consolidated net equity at December 31, 2013 was expressed in euro (compared
to about 32% at December 31, 2012). The most important currencies for the Group other than the
euro are the Brazilian Real (16%; 17% at December
31, 2012), the Turkish Lira (7%; 8% at December 31,
2012), the Chinese Renminbi (11%; 9% at December 31, 2012), the Romanian Leu (13%; 11% at December 31, 2012), the Venezuelan Bolivar (6%; 6%
at December 31, 2012), the Egyptian Pound (3%; 3%
at December 31, 2012), the British Pound (4%; 3% at
December 31, 2012), the Argentine Peso (2%; 3% at
December 31, 2012) and the U.S. Dollar (3%; 3% at
December 31, 2012).

The tables below shows the effects on consolidated equity deriving from a hypothetical appreciation/ depreciation
of the above currencies against the euro, with all other conditions being equal
(in thousands of euro)

Appreciation of 10%
12.31.2013

Depreciation of 10%

12.31.2012

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Brazilian real

42,233

45,393

(34,555)

(37,140)

Turkish lira

18,744

20,771

(15,336)

(16,994)

Chinese renminbi

28,978

23,891

(23,709)

(19,547)

Romanian leu

34,211

27,946

(27,991)

(22,865)

Venezuelan Bolivar

16,456

15,354

(13,464)

(12,562)

7,878

8,966

(6,445)

(7,336)

10,822

8,238

(8,855)

(6,740)

Argentinian pesos

6,144

7,949

(5,027)

(6,503)

US Dollar

8,933

7,418

(7,309)

(6,070)

174,400

165,927

(142,691)

(135,757)

Egyptian pound
British pound

Total out
of consolidated equity

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial asset or liability will change due to
fluctuations in market interest rates.
Group policy is to attempt to maintain the following ratio between fixed rate and variable rate exposures: 70% fixed
and 30% variable.
The Group makes derivative contracts, typically interest rate swaps with hedging objective in order to maintain this
target ratio. For such derivatives hedge accounting is adopted when the conditions set by IAS 39 are met.
The table below shows the effects on net income (loss) and direct effects on equity deriving from an increase or
decrease of 0.50% in the level of interest rates of all currencies to which the Group is exposed – all other conditions
being equal
(in thousands of euro)

+0.50%

-0.50%

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Impact on net income (loss)

(4,488)

(5,183)

4,953

6,208

Total

(4,488)

(5,183)

4,953

6,208

Direct impact on equity

3,830

7,233

(5,404)

(12,314)

Total

3,830

7,233

(5,404)

(12,314)

Price risk associated with financial assets
The Group’s exposure to price risk is limited to the volatility of financial assets such as listed and unlisted equities and
bonds, for approximately 4.6% of the total consolidated assets at December 31, 2013 (4.5% at December 31, 2012). Such
assets are classified as financial assets available for sale, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, or financial
assets held for trading.
No derivatives contracts are made to limit the volatility of these assets.
The financial assets available for sale represented by listed equity instruments total euro 130,864 thousand (euro
73,602 thousand at December 31, 2012) and those represented by securities that are indirectly related to listed financial instruments (Fin. Priv. S.r.l. and Emittenti Titoli) total euro 16,365 thousand (euro 11,939 thousand at December
31, 2012). These financial assets represent 43.7% of all financial assets subject to price risk (24.5% at December 31,
2012). A 5% change in the aforementioned listed securities, all else being equal, would entail a change of euro 7,325
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thousand (euro 4,233 thousand at December 31, 2012)
in the Group's equity.
Restructuring of the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A.
Following the restructuring of the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A. completed in August 2013, the
Company now owns three types of financial assets related to Prelios:
investment in the associate Prelios S.p.A. (listed on
the Stock Exchange);
shares in the special purpose vehicle Fenice S.r.l., an
associate which owns Prelios class B shares;
the “convertendo” equity or debt instrument.
In addition to the price risk limited to the volatility of
financial assets, such as listed shares, the company is
also subject to the risk of economic and financial performance and execution capacity of the Prelios S.p.A.
business plan.
Specifically in regard to the “convertendo” equity-for-debt financial instrument, the Group is exposed
to the risk of fair value measurement of that instrument which may occur in consequence of variation in
the market price of Prelios S.p.A. stock due to market
conditions or in consequence of the earnings results
of the associate.

Credit risk
Credit risk represents Group exposure to contingent
losses resulting from default by commercial and financial counterparties.
The Group is exposed to credit risk as part of its operating activities and financing activities.
To limit commercial counterparty default risk, the
Group has implemented procedures to evaluate its
customers’ potential and financial solidity, monitor expected incoming cash flows and take credit recovery
action if necessary.
The aim of these procedures is to define customer
credit limits. Further sales are suspended when those
limits are exceeded.
In certain cases customers are asked to provide guarantees. These mainly consist of bank guarantees issued
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by parties with the highest credit standing, or personal
guarantees. Less frequently, mortgage guarantees may
be requested.
Another instrument used by the Group to manage
commercial credit risk are the insurance policies, that
aim to prevent the risk of non-payment through accurate selection of covered customers in collaboration
with the insurance company, which undertakes to indemnify the Group in the event of customer insolvency.
The Group operates only with highly rated financial
counterparties for the management of its temporary
cash surpluses or trading in derivative instruments,
and constantly monitors its exposure to individual
counterparties. The Group does not hold public debt
instruments of any European country, and constantly
monitors its net credit exposure to the banking system.
The Group does not have significant concentrations
of credit risk.
The disclosure related to the maximum credit exposure, which is represented by the gross receivables,
is included in note 14 “Trade receivables” and note 15
“Other receivables.”

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Company’s
available financial resources be insufficient to meet its
financial and commercial obligations pursuant to the
contractual terms and conditions.
The principal instruments used by the Group to manage liquidity risk are comprised by its annual and
three-year financial and cash-pooling plans. These
allow complete and fair detection and measurement
of incoming and outgoing cash flows. The differences
between plans and actual data are constantly analysed.
The Group has implemented a centralised cash pooling system for the management of collection and payment flows in compliance with various local currency and tax laws. Banking relationships are negotiated
and managed centrally, in order to ensure coverage of
short and medium-term financial needs at the lowest
possible cost. The procurement of medium and longterm resources on the capital market is also streamlined through centralised management.

Prudent management of the risk described above requires maintaining an adequate level of cash or cash equivalents
and/or highly liquid short-term financial instruments, and the availability of funds through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and/or recourse to the capital market, while diversifying the products and their maturities
to seize the best available opportunities. The EMTN (Euro Medium Term Note) programme was finalised in July 2013.
This is a document platform for the issuance of bonds on the Euromarket – whose maximum amount was set at
euro 2 billion. The Board of Directors periodically resolves on the maximum amount of bonds that may be issued and
their time horizon under this programme. The program aims at promptly seizing the best financing opportunities to
provide continuous support for business growth in the face of volatile financial markets and possible restrictions on
access to credit. The bonds may be placed only with professional investors.
At December 31, 2013 the Group had, aside from cash and financial assets held for trading of euro 927,987 thousand,
unused committed credit facilities of euro 625,000 thousand (euro 625,000 thousand at December 31, 2012) maturing
on November 30, 2015.
The maturities of financial liabilities at December 31, 2013 may be broken down as follows
(in thousands of euro)

within 1 year

1 to 2 years

2 to 5 years

over 5 years

Total

Trade payables

1,244,466

-

-

-

1,244,466

Other payables

434,158

14,225

34,817

27,811

511,011

57,038

-

-

-

57,038

316,653

773,844

1,107,072

133,490

2,331,059

2,052,315

788,069

1,141,889

161,301

4,143,574

Derivative financial instruments
Borrowings from banks and
other financial institutions

The use of the syndicated credit facility (granted to Pirelli & C. S.p.A., Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. and Pirelli International Limited)
of euro 575,000 thousand at December 31, 2013 has been classified under non-current borrowings from banks and
other financial institutions due in 2015 (from 2 to 5 years). Reference is made to note 23.
The maturities of financial liabilities at December 31, 2012 may be broken down as follows
(in thousands of euro)

within 1 year

1 to 2 years

2 to 5 years

over 5 years

Total

Trade payables

1,268,683

-

-

-

1,268,683

Other payables

417,556

9,933

31,101

29,609

488,199

Derivative financial instruments

96,348

-

-

-

96,348

Borrowings from banks
and other financial institutions

440,526

190,549

1,640,117

165,109

2,436,301

2,223,113

200,482

1,671,218

194,718

4,289,531

4.2 Fair value measurement
The classification of financial instruments carried at fair value on the basis of a hierarchy of levels pursuant to IFRS 13
is illustrated as follows. This hierarchy reflects the significance of the inputs used to determine fair value. The following levels are distinguished:
Level 1 – unadjusted quotations recorded on an active market for the assets or liabilities to be measured;
Level 2 – inputs different from the quoted prices referred to at the preceding level, and that are observable on the
market either directly (as in the case of prices) or indirectly (because they are derived from prices);
Level 3 – inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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The following table shows assets and liabilities carried at fair value at December 31, 2013, divided into the three levels
defined above
(in thousands of euro)

Note

Carrying amount
at 12.31.2013

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss:
Securities held for trading

18

48,090

1,130

46,960

Current derivative financial instruments
Other financial assets

-

27

22,268

-

22,268

-

12

104,087

-

-

104,087

27

2,550

-

2,550

-

169,925

130,864

16,365

22,696

Hedging financial instruments:
Current derivative financial instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Other financial assets
Equities
Investment funds
12
Total Assets

15,084

-

15,084

-

185,009

130,864

31,449

22,696

362,004

131,994

103,227

126,783

(16,718)

-

(16,718)

-

(40,320)

-

(40,320)

-

(57,038)

-

(57,038)

-

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss:
Current derivative financial instruments

27

Hedging financial instruments:
Current derivative financial instruments
Total Liabilities

16
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The breakdown at December 31, 2012 was as follows
(in thousands of euro)

Note

Carrying amount
at 12.31.2012

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss:
Securities held for trading

18

224,717

755

223,962

-

Current derivative financial instruments

27

42,208

-

42,208

-

27

5,495

-

5,495

-

105,782

73,602

11,939

20,241

Hedging financial instruments:
Current derivative financial instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Other financial assets
Equities

12,343

-

12,343

-

118,125

73,602

24,282

20,241

390,546

74,357

295,948

20,241

(44,756)

-

(44,756)

-

(51,592)

-

(51,592)

-

(96,348)

-

(96,348)

-

Investment funds
12
Total Assets
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss:
Current derivative financial instruments

27

Hedging financial instruments:
Current derivative financial instruments
Total Liabilities

27

During 2013, there were no transfers from level 1 to level 2 or vice-versa.
The following table shows the changes that occurred in level 3 during 2013
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Opening balance

12.31.2012
20,241

32,492

113,940

1,981

-

(136)

Impairment

(6,185)

(12,055)

Fair value adjustments through Equity

(1,250)

(2,029)

Increases / Subscription of capital
Disposals

Other changes
Closing balance

37

(12)

126,783

20,241
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These financial assets are mainly represented by the
Prelios S.p.A. “convertendo” (euro 104,087 thousand)
and investments in Alitalia S.p.A. (euro 7,534 thousand),
Istituto Europeo di Oncologia (euro 5,038 thousand),
Equinox Two S.C.A. (euro 5,421 thousand) and Tlcom I
LP (euro 700 thousand).
The additions mainly refer to the Prelios S.p.A. “convertendo” (euro 104,087 thousand) and the subscription of rights offering of Alitalia S.p.A (euro 7,534 thousand) and Equinox Two S.C.A. (euro 1,179 thousand).
The impairments mainly refer to the investments in
Equinox Two S.C.A. (euro 1,232 thousand) and Alitalia
S.p.A. (euro 4,925 thousand).
The fair value adjustment through equity refers
mainly to the investment in the Istituto Europeo di
Oncologia (negative for euro 494 thousand), Euroqube (negative for euro 178 thousand), and S.In.T.
S.p.A. (negative for euro 527 thousand).
During the year, there were no transfers from level 3 to
other levels or vice-versa.
The fair value of financial instruments traded on active
markets is based on the price quotations published at
the reporting date. These instruments, included in level
1, mainly consist of investments classified as financial
assets available for sale.
The fair value of financial instruments not traded on
active markets (e.g. derivatives) is measured by means
of techniques that maximise the use of observable and
available market data, using widely applied financial
measurement techniques:
market prices for similar instruments;
the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by
discounting estimated future cash flows based on
observable yield curves;
the fair value of foreign exchange derivatives (forward contracts) is determined by using the forward
exchange rate at the reporting date.
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The fair value of the “convertendo”, a level 3 financial
instrument, was determined on the basis of an appraisal prepared by an independent professional. For
measurement purposes, the instrument is essentially
composed of:
a value assigned to a long position on Prelios shares;
net of the value of a sold call option, which Prelios implicitly holds since it may exercise the right of
conversion at a fixed countervalue.
The principal non-observable input used in the measurement is represented by the expected volatility of
Prelios S.p.A, stock, in the amount of 32.16%. It was not
possible to refer to the implicit volatility of the options
when estimating the expected volatility, since there
are no listed options on Prelios S.p.A. Therefore, the
forecast volatility was estimated beginning with the
historic volatility of the Prelios S.p.A. stock measured
over a one-year time horizon, in the amount of 32.85%.
The relation between the implicit volatility of the options and the historic volatility of a panel of comparable entities was subsequently analysed. The expected
volatility of Prelios S.p.A. turned out to be lower than
its historical volatility.
A +/- 5% change in expected volatility (compared with
the 32.16% used to determine the fair value of the convertendo) would result in a euro 6,800 thousand decrease or increase, respectively, in the fair value of the
instrument. Reference is made to note 12.

4.3 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The table below shows the carrying amounts for each class of financial asset and liability identified by IAS 39
(in thousands of euro)

Note

Carrying amount
at 12.31.2013

Carrying amount
at 12.31.2012

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit and loss
Securities held for trading

18

48,090

224,717

Current derivative financial instruments
Non-current other financial assets

27

22,268

42,208

12

104,087
174,445

266,925

15

169,463

370,210

Current trade receivables

14

666,427

704,558

Current other receivables

15

267,535

341,404

Cash and cash equivalents

19

Loans and receivables
Non-current other receivables

879,897

679,794

1,983,322

2,095,966

185,009

118,125

Available-for-sale financial assets
Non-current other financial assets

12

Hedging financial instruments
Current derivative financial instruments

27

2,550

5,495

2,345,325

2,486,511

27

16,718

44,756

Non-current borrowings from banks and other
financial institutions

23

2,014,406

1,995,775

Non-current other payables

25

76,853

70,643

Current borrowings from banks and other
financial institutions

23

316,653

440,526

Current trade payables

24

1,244,466

1,268,683

Current other payables

25

434,158

417,556

4,086,536

4,193,183

40,320

51,592

4,143,575

4,289,531

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit and loss
Current derivative financial instruments
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost

Hedging financial instruments
Current derivative financial instruments

27
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Assistant Professor at La Sapienza
University in Physics and Junior Fellow
at Scuola Superiore di Studi Avanzati Sapienza,
Fabio Sciarrino’s research focus is on experimental
quantum optics, quantum computation
and information, and the foundations
of Quantum Mechanics.
His experiments have led to the development
of new techniques in his field,
and they have also contributed
to the understanding of the foundations
of quantum mechanics and quantum
information theory. He works with optics
and ultra-fast lasers to achieve his results.
He also won a prestigious European Research
Council Starting Grant for his work in Integrated
Quantum Photonics, as well as numerous other
grants and fellowships. He is the author of more
than 100 publications in international journals
(among which ten publications on Nature journals)
and about 100 presentations at national
and international conferences.
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and optics. He is intense, and highly – fearfully – intelligent
and he has a keen sense of the makeup of the world; seeing
things that the rest of us don’t or can’t. He doesn’t just
envisage the wheel, he goes past that to see what’s going
on inside, somewhere in the hazy world of sub-particles.

scienTIST
NO

SCIAR
RI

Fabio spends the majority of his time with ultra-fast lasers

He answers not just the question ‘how’ but ‘why’.
I thought it was a wonderful idea to invite such

36 years old, Italian

an outspoken and perspicacious person to the event.

2014: Prize Sapio Junior
per la Ricerca italiana –
XIV Edition 2014
2011: Prize “Sapienza
Ricerca 2011”
2011: Under 40 Premio
Fondazione Sapienza
2008: Prize “Medaglia
Le Scienze per la Fisica”
2008: Prize “Medaglia della
Presidenza della Repubblica”

His presentation was a radiant light display,
configuring the pulses of laser beams into
the twisting and turning shape of a wheel,
using the quantum to represent something
mechanical. In turn he turned a scientific
instrument in a kind of paintbrush.
Like art, he said, science proceeds by hunches
and guesses, it tests the water and pushes
into the unknown, on a trial by trial basis.
He taught us that there is no strict divide
between art and science, as is too often assumed,
and how they are perceived from the outside.
Both attempt to find meaning and knowledge
through guess work, and great developments
or masterpieces issue occasionally from a plethora
of mistakes and errors. He reminded us that both
disciplines are processes, and accretive. It was wonderful
to spend time with someone so talented in a specific field,
but to have an over-arching out look that seemed to encompass
everything: artistic, scientific, existential and ontological.

[Hanif Kureishi]
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FABIO SCIARRINO

Spinning the wheel

Do you consider your talent a gift or a burden?
I would define talent not as a gift but rather as an opportunity to be exploited and developed.
When you concentrate on one single activity to the point that it becomes almost
an obsession in order to pursue your talent, that “gift” can become a constraint in life.
What you would do if one day you woke up and discovered you had lost your talent?
I’d have to invent a different life for myself. In a way it could be very stimulating…
like a new challenge: I’d look to the world of economics or politics for example!
Who is the living talent you most admire?
I find it difficult to single out just one… the candidates range from political
or sporting personalities to men and women of culture and obviously scientists.
I’ve been lucky enough to get to know Alain Aspect and Serge Haroche,
two physicists who have contributed to fundamental quantum physics
and I was very impressed by both their professional and human attributes.
What do you like about your talent and what don’t you like?
Honestly I wouldn’t say that I had talent. I would call it
a great passion for research. It’s a kind of addiction that makes me
constantly think of new ideas and solutions. It’s hard to keep
it under control, but life is also about affection, friendship
and other interests.
When or where does your talent make you happy?
There are a lot of moments I remember with happiness.
One of the greatest satisfactions I have ever experienced was winning
a very prestigious European project, well financed
by the European Research Council.
If you could change your talent, how you would change it?
I’m not sure… it’s fine just the way it is: with its pros and cons!
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FABIO SCIARRINO

Spinning the wheel

The photonic gear is a new device:
a "wheel of light" able to make the polarisation
of light rotate faster. It is based on a novel
liquid-crystal device, called the q-plate,
which allows for the efficient
manipulation of light profiles.
The photonic gear has the potential
for industrial applications,
as well as for quantum metrology
and quantum communication.
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5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES
The Group’s objective is to maximise the return on net invested capital while maintaining the ability to operate
over time, ensuring adequate returns for its shareholders and benefits for the other stakeholders, with a sustainable
financial structure.
In order to achieve these objectives, as well as pursue satisfactory earnings results and generate cash flows, the
Group may adjust its dividend policy and the configuration of the Company’s capital.
The main indicators used by the Group to manage its capital are:
R .O.I. (Return on Investments) – Ratio between operating income and average net invested capital: the indicator
represents the capacity of business results to remunerate net invested capital, calculated as the sum of non-current assets and net working capital. The Group’s objective is to have this ratio higher than the weighted average
cost of capital (WACC);
Gearing: this is calculated as the ratio between net financial position and equity. It is an indicator of the sustainability of the ratio between debt and equity, which takes into account the market situation and trend in the cost of
capital and debt at different times;
R .O.E (Return on equity): this is calculated as the ratio between net income and average carrying amount of equity.
It is an indicator representing the Group’s ability to remunerate its shareholders. The objective is to have this indicator higher than the rate of return on a risk-free investment, correlated to the nature of the operated businesses.
The figures for 2013 and 2012 are shown below
2013
1

R.O.I. (operating income / average net invested capital)

2

Gearing (net financial position/equity)

3

R.O.E. (Return on Equity -net income / equity)

2012
17.81%

19.44%

0.54

0.50

12.70%

17.39%

6. ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements entails that management make estimates and assumptions
which, under certain circumstances, are based on difficult and subjective assessments and estimates that are based
on historical experience, and assumptions that are periodically considered reasonable and realistic in light of the circumstances. The results that actually emerge could therefore differ from such estimates. Estimates and assumptions
are reviewed regularly and the effects of each change made to them are recognised in the income statement for the
year when the estimate is revised if the revision itself only affects that year, or also in subsequent periods if the revision affects both the current period and future ones.
It should be noted that the situation caused by the economic and financial crisis entailed making extremely uncertain assumptions about future performance. Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that next year’s results will be different
from those estimated and that adjustments to the carrying value of the relevant items might be necessary, including
significant adjustments, which obviously cannot be estimated or foreseen at this time. Such estimates affect the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities, costs and revenues, and also disclosures relating to contingent assets/
liabilities at the reporting date.
The estimates and assumptions relate mainly to assessments of the recoverability of intangible assets, to the definition of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, to the recoverability of receivables and to the recognition/
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measurement of provisions for liabilities and charges,
pension schemes and other post-employment benefits and are based on data that reflect the best current
available knowledge.

Estimates entailing greater
subjectivity and having a particularly
material impact
What follows is a brief description of the accounting
policies that, more than others, require management
to exercise greater subjectivity in the calculation of estimates, and for which a change in the conditions underlying the assumptions used could have a material
impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements, or for
which there is a risk that material adjustments to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities may emerge in
the year subsequent to the reference period.
Goodwill
In accordance with the accounting standards adopted
for preparation of the financial statements, goodwill is
tested annually in order to ascertain the existence of
any impairment losses to be recognised in the income
statement. In particular, the test requires the allocation
of goodwill to cash generating units and subsequent
determination of their recoverable amount, that is the
greater between fair value and value in use.
If the recoverable amount proves to be lower than
the carrying amount of the cash generating units, the
goodwill allocated to them must be impaired. Determination of the recoverable value of the cash generating
units entails using estimates that depend on subjective
assessments and on factors that can change over time,
with consequent and possibly material effects on the
measurements made by management.
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets
In accordance with the reference accounting standards,
non-current assets are tested to ascertain whether there
has been an impairment loss, which must be recognised
through impairment, when there are signs that difficulties are to be expected for recovery of their net carrying
amount through use. Testing whether these symptoms

exist requires that the directors use subjective assessments based on information available from both internal and external sources, and on historical experience.
Moreover, if it is determined that a potential impairment
loss may be generated, this loss is calculated using appropriate measurement techniques.
The proper identification of elements indicating the
existence of a potential impairment loss, and the estimates for calculating the amount of such losses, depend on subjective assessments and factors that may
vary over time, affecting the assessments and estimates
made by management.
Pension plans and other post-employment benefits
Group companies have set up pension plans, healthcare plans and other defined benefit plans in different
countries for their employees, mainly in the United
States, the United Kingdom and Italy.
Management uses different actuarial assumptions to
calculate the liabilities and the future returns on assets serving these employee benefit plans. Actuarial
assumptions of a financial nature regard the discount
rate, the rates of future salary increases and trends in
healthcare costs.
Demographic actuarial assumptions of a demographic
nature essentially regard the rates of mortality, disability and resignations.
The Group has identified discounting rates deemed to
be balanced, considering the context.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are accounted for on the basis
of expected future taxable earnings prospects. The
measurement of prospective income to account for
deferred taxes depends on factors that may change
over time and materially impact the measurement of
deferred tax assets.
To determine the adjustment, forecast figures and
business plans consistent with those used for the impairment tests and described in the previous paragraph
in relation to the recoverable amount of non-current
assets have been taken into account. Furthermore, the
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accrued adjustments are deemed adequate to cover the risk of further worsening in the plan assumptions, considering that the accrued net deferred tax assets refer to temporary differences or tax losses for which a significant amount
may be recovered over an extremely long period of time, and thus consistently with a context where exit from the
crisis and economic recovery should last beyond the time horizon implicit in the aforementioned plans.
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions are set aside against contingent legal and fiscal liabilities, representing the risk of losing lawsuits. The
amount of provisions recognised in relation to these liabilities represents the best estimate at the reporting date made
by management for lawsuits and tax claims regarding a vast range of issues which are subject to the jurisdiction of
various countries. Such an estimate entails making assumptions that depend on factors that may change over time
and which could therefore have a material impact with respect to the current estimates made by management for the
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Measurement of the Prelios “convertendo” debt-for-equity instrument
As part of the arrangements to restructure the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A. that were finalised in August
2013, Pirelli subscribed to the “convertendo” bond that was designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss when initially recognised.
Estimates were used to measure the fair value of the financial instrument at December 31, 2013. Reference should be
made to the note on the Financial Risk Management Policy – Fair value measurement for the analytical description of
the measurement criteria that are used and the hierarchy level.

7. Business Combinations
Wagner acquisition (Germany)
Between July and October 2013 Pneumobil Gmbh, a German company controlled by Pirelli Tyre S.p.A through
Deutsche Pirelli Reifen Holing GmbH, acquired 25 retail outlets in Bavaria, of which 15 belong to Reifen Wagner I.S.
Autoservice GmbH & Co and 10 to Tire Wagner GmbH, for a value of euro 20,138 thousand.
With this transaction, Pirelli wishes to reinforce its commercial presence in Bavaria, and especially in the Munich area.
The fair value of the acquired assets is illustrated as follows
(in migliaia di euro)

Fair value recognised on acquisition
Property, plant and equipment
Customer relationship
Trademarks

1,540
331
9,439

Intangible assets

9,770

Inventories

5,948

Fair value of total net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill
Total consideration

18
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17,258
2,880
20,138

The purchase price allocation (PPA) to the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the business combination
has been completed, in accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. Therefore, the calculation of goodwill resulting from the acquisition must be considered final.
The difference between the total consideration (euro 20,138 thousand) and the value of net acquired assets (euro
7,488 thousand) has been allocated as a euro 9,770 thousand addition to intangible assets (including trademarks for
euro 9,439 thousand and customer relationships for euro 331 thousand). The residual goodwill consequently totals
euro 2,880 thousand, entirely allocated to the consumer cash generating unit.
Incurred costs related to the transaction in 2013 total euro 22 thousand and have been recognised in the Income
Statement as “other costs” and mainly refer to several advisory services provided in support of the acquisition process.

Full consolidation of the China JV
The investment in Sino Italian Wire Tech. Co. Ltd, amounting to 49%, was classified as a subsidiary at December 31,
2013, since the call option held by Pirelli became exercisable in 2013. If exercised, it would increase the Pirelli shareholding to 75%. In accordance with IAS 27, if call options can be exercised, they constitute potential voting rights that
must be added to the voting shares counted to determine whether ornot there is control. At December 31, 2012 the
investment was classified as an associate. The full consolidation of this investment is falling under IFRS 3, since it involves a step acquisition or a business combination achieved in stages, i.e. acquisition of control over an investee in
which a non-controlling equity interest was already held.
The table shows the fair value of the investment and the assets and liabilities at the consolidation date
(in thousand of euro)

Fair value recognised
on Consolidation date
Property, plant and equipment

46,867

Inventories

4,458

Trade receivables

7,977

Other receivables

4,901

Cash and cash equivalents

842
65,045

Trade payables

(4,100)

Other payables

(2,015)

Borrowings from banks and other financial institutions

(40,315)
(46,430)

Total net identifiable assets consolidated

18,615

Non controlling interest 51%

(9,494)

Fair value 49% shareholding *

9,121

* Equivalent to the consideration for the acquisition of control.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS
To align the presentation of the operating segments to the internal reporting of the Group, the operating segments
presented at December 31, 2013 have been modified since December 31, 2012. In particular, the Total Tyre Business
that in 2012 was presented as the only operating segment, has been split into:
the Consumer Business segment that includes car and motorcycle tyres made for both the original equipment
and replacement markets;
the Industrial Business segment that includes truck tyres, tyres for agricultural equipment, made both for the
original equipment and replacement markets, and the steel cord business.
Information of the holding companies and service companies (including the parent company) have been allocated
to the operating segments by using reasonable and consistent principles. The “Other business” consists of the Pirelli
Ambiente Group and the PZero Group.
The comparative information for 2012 have thus been restated.
The results for 2013 by operating segments are as follows
(in thousands of euro)

CONSUMER
Total net sales

INDUSTRIAL

OTHER BUSINESS

Total 12.31.2013

4,478,886

1,636,900

30,374

6,146,160

Gross operating profit

823,896

283,100

(27,049)

1,079,947

Depreciation and amortisation

(227,532)

(57,500)

(3,901)

(288,933)

Operating income (loss)

596,364

225,600

(30,950)

791,014

Net income (loss) from equity investments

(78,298)

Financial income (expenses)

(195,832)

Net income (loss) before income taxes

516,884

Income taxes

(210,392)

Net income (loss)

306,492

The results for 2012 by operating segments are as follows
(in thousands of euro)

CONSUMER
Total net sales
Gross operating profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating income (loss)
Net income (loss) from equity investments
Financial income (expenses)
Net income (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income (loss)
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INDUSTRIAL

OTHER BUSINESS

Total 12.31.2012

4,419,835

1,611,500

40,200

6,071,535

849,472

237,900

(23,493)

1,063,879

(206,800)

(59,800)

(4,807)

(271,407)

642,672

178,100

(28,300)

792,472
(52,247)
(150,440)
589,786
(198,225)
391,560

The breakdown of assets, liabilities and capital expenditure by operating segment at December 31, 2013 are as
follows
(in thousands of euro)

CONSUMER
Goodwill
Allocated assets

Allocated liabilities

325,784

-

3,727,388

1,060,961

-

-

4,314,621
1,527,130

Total 12.31.2013
-

913,017

61,680

-

4,850,029

-

1,597,166

1,597,166

1,386,745

61,680

1,597,166

7,360,212

466,688

14,881

-

2,008,342

-

-

-

2,915,281

2,915,281

1,527,130

466,688

14,881

2,915,281

4,923,623

318,400

83,100

781

-

402,281

7,700

3,100

18

-

10,818

Unallocated liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

OTHER

587,233

Unallocated assets
TOTAL ASSETS

OTHER
BUSINESS

INDUSTRIAL

Investments:
property, plant and equipment
intangible assets

The breakdown of assets, liabilities and capital expenditure by operating segment at December 31, 2012 are as
follows
(in thousands of euro)

CONSUMER
Goodwill
Allocated assets
Unallocated assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Allocated liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

OTHER
BUSINESS

INDUSTRIAL

OTHER

Total 12.31.2012

590,488

328,201

-

-

918,689

3,756,537

1,176,374

85,800

-

5,018,711

-

-

-

1,655,423

1,655,423

4,347,025

1,504,575

85,800

1,655,423

7,592,823

1,511,300

520,600

21,100

-

2,053,000

-

-

-

3,150,394

3,150,394

1,511,300

520,600

21,100

3,150,394

5,203,394

376,800

75,900

2,848

-

455,548

11,100

4,000

314

-

15,414

Investments:
property, plant and equipment
intangible assets

Segment assets consist mainly of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, leased assets, inventories,
trade receivables and other receivables. Financial receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets, securities held for trading and both current and deferred tax assets are excluded.
Segment liabilities mainly comprise trade payables and other payables, advances from customers and provisions for liabilities and charges and employee benefits. Financial payables and both current and deferred tax liabilities are excluded.
Investments in property, plant and equipment were focused on expanding the availability of premium products in
Italy, Mexico, Romania and China. Work is also proceeding in Russia to align the production sites with Group processes and quality standards.
Investments in intangible assets include IT costs for improvement and development of business support platforms
(GeoMarketing phase I, eCRM-CRM, O.E. System Evolution, B2B Platform Evolution), for business intelligence implementations (OE Aftermarket, Sell In and Out Optimisation Programme) and new, evolved functions for Forecast and
Purchasing profitability – SAP SRM Enhancements.
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The table below sets forth the revenue by geographical area, that are allocated on the basis of the country in which
the customer is resident
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Italy
Rest of Europe

2012

379,451

6.18%

425,260

7.01%
27.81%

1,679,367

27.32%

1,688,549

Russia & CSI

254,122

4.13%

255,160

4.20%

Nafta

682,053

11.10%

692,618

11.41%

2,174,235

35.38%

2,067,525

34.05%

481,493

7.83%

420,400

6.92%

Central and South America
Asia/Pacific
Middle Est/Africa/India

495,439

8.06%

522,023

8.60%

6,146,160

100.00%

6,071,535

100.00%

The table below sets forth non-current assets by geographical area, that are allocated on the basis of the country
where these assets are located
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Italy

463,064

12.78%

403,152

11.06%

Rest of Europe

695,374

19.20%

648,527

17.79%

Russia & CSI

255,637

7.06%

286,139

7.85%

Nafta

207,927

5.74%

195,422

5.36%

Central and South America

560,349

15.47%

633,746

17.38%

Asia/Pacific

334,789

9.24%

342,042

9.38%

Middle Est/Africa/India

192,270

5.31%

218,211

5.99%

Non-current assets not allocated

913,017

25.20%

918,689

25.20%

3,622,427

100.00%

3,645,928

100.00%

The allocated non-current assets reported above consist of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
excluding goodwill. The unallocated non-current assets pertain to goodwill (refer to note 10).
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At December 31, 2013 the breakdown and changes of property, plant and equipment are as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Gross
Amount
Land

12.31.2012

Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Amount

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Amount

106,896

-

106,896

108,399

-

108,399

Buildings

1,099,434

(429,450)

669,984

1,101,203

(416,187)

685,016

Plant and machinery

3,480,584

(1,909,024)

1,571,560

3,521,488

(1,971,572)

1,549,916

691,235

(507,690)

183,545

715,488

(524,765)

190,723

Industrial and commercial
equipment
Other assets

230,162

(153,699)

76,463

260,803

(171,413)

89,390

5,608,311

(2,999,863)

2,608,448

5,707,381

(3,083,937)

2,623,444
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GROSS AMOUNT (in thousands of euro)
12.31.12
Land

Business
Hyperinflacombination
tion effect
effect

Translation
differ.

Increases

Decreases Reclassif. Other

12.31.13

108,399

1,581

5,025

(6,338)

18

(687)

1,703

(2,805)

106,896

Buildings

1,101,203

17,347

14,024

(80,097)

41,638

(12,143)

18,298

(836)

1,099,434

Plant and
machinery

3,521,488

28,402

32,285

(296,000)

276,116

(89,061)

3,213

4,141

3,480,584

Industrial
and
commercial
equipment

715,488

6,222

-

(66,510)

37,978

(26,108)

20,980

3,185

691,235

Other assets

260,803

17,152

2,948

(32,699)

46,531

(19,490)

(44,194)

(889)

230,162

5,707,381

70,705

54,282

(481,644)

402,281

(147,489)

-

2,795

5,608,311

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (in thousands of euro)
Hyperinflation effect

Business
combination
effect

Translation differ.

(416,187)

(15,550)

(754)

38,040

(4,142)

(1,971,572)

(16,371)

(4,431)

167,880

Industrial
and
commercial
equipment

(524,765)

(5,279)

-

Other assets

(171,413)

(3,268)

(3,083,937)

(40,468)

12.31.12
Buildings
Plant and
machinery

Reclassif. Decreases

Deprec.

Other

12.31.13

3,114

(35,084)

1,115

(429,450)

688

80,908

(165,202)

(924)

(1,909,024)

49,595

1,792

23,554

(54,634)

2,047

(507,690)

(690)

12,662

1,662

16,829

(14,996)

5,515

(153,699)

(5,875)

268,177

-

124,405

(269,916)

7,752

(2,999,863)

Decreases

Reclassif.

Depreciation

Other

12.31.13

NET AMOUNT (in thousands of euro)
12.31.12

Hyperinflation
effect

Business
combination
effect

Translation
differ.

Increases

Land

108,399

1,581

5,025

(6,338)

18

(687)

1,703

-

(2,805)

106,896

Buildings

685,016

1,797

13,270

(42,057)

41,638

(9,029)

14,156

(35,084)

278

669,984

1,549,916

12,032

27,854

(128,120)

276,116

(8,153)

3,901

(165,202)

3,216

1,571,560

190,723

943

-

(16,915)

37,978

(2,554)

22,772

(54,634)

5,232

183,545

Plant and
machinery
Industrial
and
commercial
equipment
Other assets
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89,390

13,884

2,258

(20,037)

46,531

(2,661)

(42,532)

(14,997)

4,627

76,463

2,623,444

30,237

48,407

(213,467)

402,281

(23,084)

-

(269,917)

10,548

2,608,448

The changes at December 31, 2012 were as follows
GROSS AMOUNT (in thousands of euro)
12.31.11
Land

Restatement
*

Hyperinflation
effect

12.31.11
restated

Translation
differ.

Business
combination effect

Increases

Decre- ReclasOther
ases
sif.

12.31.12

93,647

(700)

92,947

721

-

(1,406)

5,037

(1,159)

867

11,392

108,399

970,824

37,608

1,008,432

7,909

29,459

(20,512)

59,625

(4,390)

25,255

(4,575)

1,101,203

3,322,727

14,800

3,337,527

9,380

46,542

(102,764) 286,664

(42,512)

(17,420)

Industrial
and
commercial
equipment

650,694

-

650,694

2,554

18,501

(21,393)

43,218

(18,329)

37,889

2,354

715,488

Other assets

272,422

(7,597)

264,825

11,201

2,748

(4,870)

61,004

(30,218) (46,591)

2,704

260,803

5,310,314

44,111

5,354,425

31,765

Buildings
Plant and
machinery

97,250 (150,945) 455,548 (96,608)

4,071 3,521,488

- 15,946 5,707,381

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION (in thousands of euro)

12.31.11

Buildings

Restatement
*

Business
combination
effect

Hyperinflation
effect

12.31.11
restated

Translation
differ.

Reclassif.

Decreases

Deprec. Other

12.31.12

(391,114)

-

(391,114)

(6,960)

(234)

10,897

781

3,150

(32,940)

234

(416,187)

Plant and
machinery

(1,891,612)

-

(1,891,612)

(6,945)

(929)

54,029

7,842

28,869

(163,823)

997

(1,971,572)

Industrial
and
commercial
equipment

(499,602)

-

(499,602)

(2,301)

(8,185)

16,589

2,943

15,887

(49,920)

(176)

(524,765)

(171,370)

-

(171,370)

(1,466)

(1,405)

2,690

(11,566)

28,785

(13,382)

(3,699)

(171,413)

- (2,953,698)

(17,673)

(10,752)

84,205

-

Other assets

(2,953,698)

76,691 (260,065) (2,644) (3,083,937)

NET AMOUNT (in thousands of euro)

12.31.11

Land

Restatement
*

12.31.11
restated

Hyperinflation
effect

Business
combination
effect

Translation
differ.

Increases

DeReclas- Deprecreasif.
ciation
ses

Other

12.31.12

93.647

(700)

92.947

721

-

(1.406)

5.037

(1.159)

867

-

11.392

579.710

37.608

617.318

948

29.226

(9.615)

59.625

(1.240)

26.036

(32.940)

(4.342)

685.016

Plant and
machinery

1.431.115

14.800

1.445.915

2.435

45.613

(9.578) (163.823)

5.068

1.549.916

Industrial
and
commercial
equipment

151.092

-

151.092

253

10.316

(4.804)

43.218

(2.442)

40.832

(49.920)

2.178

190.723

1.344

(2.180)

61.004

(1.433) (58.157)

(13.382)

(995)

89.390

Buildings

Other assets

101.052

(7.597)

93.455

9.734

2.356.616

44.111

2.400.727

14.092

(48.735) 286.664 (13.643)

86.498 (66.740) 455.548 (19.917)

- (260.065)

108.399

13.301 2.623.444

*T
 he amounts at 12.31.2011 have been restated to include retrospectively the effects of the final purchase price allocation related to the acquisition in
Russia
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The additions in 2013 mainly refer to investments to expand the availability of premium products in Italy, Mexico,
Romania and China. Work is also proceeding in Russia to align the production sites with Group processes and quality
standards.
The ratio of additions to property, plant and equipment to depreciation in 2013 was 1.49 (1.75 at December 31, 2012).
The effect from business combinations refers to the acquisition of 25 retail outlets in Germany that belonged to
Reifen Wagner I.S. Autoservice GmbH & Co and Tire Wagner GmbH (euro 1,540 thousand) and the full consolidation
of the Chinese company Sino Italian Wire Tech. Co. Ltd (euro 46,867 thousand). For more details, refer to note 7 “Business combinations”.
Construction in progress at December 31, 2013, included in the individual categories of property, plant and equipment, totalled euro 274,703 thousand (euro 241,107 thousand at December 31, 2012).
Impairment during 2013, included in the column “gross value – decreases” of the table illustrated above, totalled euro
7,559 thousand (euro 10,839 thousand in 2012) and are related to the reduction in anti-particulate filters activity (in
China and Romania), also in line with the strategy of focusing on the tyre business.
With regard to the restrictions on the ownership of assets, it should be noted that:
the subsidiary Pirelli Tyres Alexandria Co. (Egypt) pledged its plant and machinery for a total of euro 3,561 thousand (euro 5,230 thousand at December 31, 2012) as collateral for loans granted by the National Bank of Egypt;
the subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda. (Brazil) pledged its machinery and land as collateral for a total of euro 42,452 thousand (euro 50,573 thousand at December 31, 2012) against bank loans granted by BNDES (Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento) and litigation with the national social security institution INSS (Instituto nacional de seguridade social);
the subsidiary Pirelli Neumaticos SAIC (Argentina) pledged its own land and buildings for a total of euro 12,248 thousand as collateral for a loan granted by Banco de la Nacion Argentina (euro 11,019 thousand at December 31, 2012);
the subsidiary Pirelli Neumaticos S.A. de C.V. (Mexico) pledged its own land, factories and plants as collateral worth
euro 67,668 thousand for a loan granted by Bancomext.

9.1 FINANCE LEASE
The value of buildings and other assets for which the Group has entered into a finance leasing agreement is included
in the related categories of property, plant, and equipment.
The table below sets forth the breakdown of the item
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Accumulated
Depreciation

Cost
Leased land

12.31.2012
Net amount

Accumulated
Depreciation

Cost

Net amount

-

-

-

10,348

-

10,348

Leased buildings

2,860

(1,292)

1,568

52,537

(12,605)

39,932

Other leased assets

2,635

(2,091)

544

2,955

(2,158)

797

94

(94)

-

96

(96)

-

5,589

(3,477)

2,112

65,936

(14,859)

51,077

Leased plant
and machinery
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The decrease in land and buildings held under finance lease compared to December 31, 2012 is mainly due to the
redemption, occurred in July 2013, of the property and land held under finance lease, where the structures and Tyre
R&D activities in Italy and the headquarter of Prelios S.p.A .are located (euro 12,562 thousand).
The payables for finance lease are included in financial payables (refer to note 23).

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The breakdown and changes in intangible assets are as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.12

Translation
differences

Effect of
business
combination

Increase

Decrease

Amortisation

Reclassif. Other

12.31.13

Patents and
intellectual property
rights

19

(2)

-

-

-

(31)

63

-

49

Concessions/
licenses/trademarks

52,349

(2,518)

9,770

367

-

(6,914)

(370)

-

52,683

918,689

(8,552)

2,880

-

-

-

-

-

913,017

Application software

18,570

(70)

-

7,583

(52)

(8,168)

307

31

18,201

Other intangible
assets

32,857

(2,289)

-

2,868

-

(3,904)

-

496

30,028

1,022,484

(13,432)

12,650

10,818

(52)

(19,016)

-

527

1,013,979

Goodwill

The changes occurred in 2012 were as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.11
Patents and
intellectual
property rights
Concessions/
licenses/
trademarks
Goodwill

Effect of
business 12.31.2011
combina- restated (*)
tion (*)

Translation differences
da conv.

Effect of
business
combination

Increase

Decrease

Amortisation

Other

12.31.12

31

-

31

-

-

-

-

(12)

(0)

19

7,898

13,000

20,898

(593)

41,417

1,158

(19)

(4,496)

(6,017)

52,349

915,321

(50,985)

864,336

334

54,019

-

-

-

(0)

918,689

Application
software

8,376

-

8,376

21

843

12,968

-

(3,912)

275

18,570

Other
intangible
assets

2,673

12,200

14,873

1,670

15,750

1,288

(130)

(2,922)

2,329

32,858

934,299

(25,785)

908,514

1,433

112,029

15,414

(149)

(11,342)

(3,414) 1,022,484

* The amounts at 31.12.2011 have been restated to include retrospectively the effects of the final purchase price allocation related to the acquisition in Russia

The addition to software application mainly refers to IT costs for improvement and development of business support
platforms (GeoMarketing phase I, eCRM-CRM, O.E. System Evolution, B2B Platform Evolution), for business intelligence implementations (OE Aftermarket, Sell In and Out Optimisation Programme) and new, evolved functions for
Forecast and Purchasing profitability – SAP SRM Enhancements.
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The business combination effect includes euro 2,880 thousand related to the goodwill resulting from the acquisition
of 25 retail outlets belonging to Reifen Wagner I.S. Autoservice GmbH & Co and Tire Wagner GmbH, plus euro 9,770
thousand for the allocation to trademarks and customer relationships (see the previous note 7 “Business Combinations”).
The table below sets forth the allocation of goodwill by operating segment, the cash generating units (CGU) to which
it was allocated for impairment testing, and the method used to measure the recoverable amount:
(in thousands of euro)

Operating segment

Cash generating unit

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Recoverable amount

Consumer

Consumer

587,233

590,488

Value in use

Industrial

Industrial

325,784

328,201

Value in use

913,017

918,689

Goodwill was tested for impairment at December 31, 2013, relying on independent appraisals. This involved estimating the recoverable value of the CGU and comparing it with the net carrying amount of the relevant assets, including
goodwill.
Value in use corresponds to the discounted value of the future cash flows that are expected to be associated with the
CGU, using a discount rate that reflects the specific risks of the single CGU at the measurement date.
The key assumptions used by management are estimates of future sales increases, operating cash flows, the growth
of terminal values and the weighted average cost of capital (discount rate).
The forecast income flows cover a three-year period (2014-2016), and refer to the “Industrial Plan 2014-2017”, presented to the financial community on November 6, 2013. If the consensus estimates are lower, the Ebit flows of each CGU
were reduced by the negative difference between the consensus flows and the Business Plan flows.
The calculation also included the hypothetical flow deriving from the disposal of CGUs at the end of the explicit period
(assumed to be the discounted value of the perpetual return of the flow generated in the last year of the projection).
The discount rates, defined as the average cost of capital net of taxes, applied to prospective cash flows, and the used
growth factors are shown in the following table

Operating
segment

Cash
Generating
Unit

2013
discount
rate (WACC)

2012

growth rate
(g)

WACC - g

discount
rate (WACC)

growth rate
(g)

WACC - g

Consumer

Consumer

8.56%

-

8.56%

9.28%

-

9.28%

Industrial

Industrial

8.56%

-

8.56%

9.28%

-

9.28%

On the basis of these tests, no impairment loss was recognised.
A sensitivity analysis of the results for the examined CGUs was also carried out. In all cases the values in use remain
higher than the carrying amounts even assuming a change in key parameters such as:
a change in discount rates by 100 basis points;
a change in the growth rate by 100 basis points.
Concessions, licenses and trademarks mainly include the brands deriving from acquisition in 2013 of 25 retail
outlets belonging to Wagner in Germany for euro 9,770 thousand, and from the acquisitions made during 2012 in
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Russia (euro 7,542 thousand), the retail chains Däckia in Sweden (euro 24,206 thousand) and Campneus in Brazil
(euro 9,443 thousand).
The Other intangible assets are mainly composed of the fair value measurement of customer relationships and
commercial partnerships resulting from the acquisitions made in 2012 in Russia and Sweden (Däckia).

11. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
The following table sets forth the changes in investments in associates and joint ventures during the year
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012
113,171

140,114

Increases

Opening balance

76,780

-

Distribution of dividends

(1,947)

(3,928)

Impairment

-

(29)

(25,835)

(21,293)

(3,932)

(1,701)

Reclassifications and other

(26,771)

8

Closing balance

131,466

113,171

Share of net income (loss)
Share of other components recognised
in other comprehensive income

The breakdown by individual investment is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2012

Eurostazioni S.p.A.

Increases

Distribution
of dividends

Share of
net income
(loss)

Share of other
components
recognised
in other
comprehensive
income

Reclassifications
and other

12.31.2013

59,912

-

(1,947)

-

-

-

57,965

Prelios

-

21,523

-

(12,838)

-

313

8,998

Fenice S.r.l.

-

22,986

-

-

(4,801)

-

18,185

RCS MediaGroup
S.p.A.

19,327

21,331

-

(13,573)

-

(27,085)

-

Sino Italian Wire
Tech. Co Ltd

8,491

-

-

350

-

(8,841)

-

23,823

-

-

(191)

869

-

24,501

-

10,338

-

637

8,966

19,941

Idea Granda Società
Consortile r.l.

633

-

-

-

-

633

Other companies

985

602

-

(220)

-

(124)

1,243

113,171

76,780

(1,947)

(25,835)

(3,932)

(26,771)

131,466

GWM Renewable
Energy II S.p.A.
PT Evoluzione
Tyres

Total

The investments in GWM Renewable Energy II S.p.A. (16.87%) and in Prelios S.p.A. (13.06% of voting shares, and 9.17%
of total share capital), are classified as associates (although the percentage of participation in the share capital is
below 20%), since the Group has a significant influence through the presence of its own managers on their Board
of Directors and, with regard to Prelios, also through the investment in Fenice S.r.l. and the “convertendo” financial
instrument (refer to note 12 “Other financial assets”).
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The fair value of the investment in Prelios S.p.A., listed
on the Milan Stock Exchange, was calculated by using
the quotation at December 31, 2013 (euro 0.5775 per
share), and totals euro 20,912 thousand.
The additions during the year refer to:
the conversion, for euro 21,523 thousand, of the
financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A. (which
amounted to euro 173,506 thousand at December
31, 2012) into ordinary shares of Prelios S.p.A. and
from the establishment and subsequent subscription of the share capital increase of Fenice S.r.l., a
special purpose vehicle that owns 117,597,496 Class
B non-voting shares of Prelios S.p.A., for euro 22,986
thousand, as part of the restructuring of the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A.;
the subscription of the share capital increase of
RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. (euro 21,331 thousand) and
PT Evoluzione Tyres (euro 10,338 thousand), a joint
venture operating in Indonesia.
In regard to the share of net income (loss), refer to
note 34.1 “Share of net income (loss) of associates and
joint ventures.”
In particular, it should be noted that:
the investment in Prelios S.p.A. was acquired at the
end of August 2013. At the date of preparation of
this document, Prelios S.p.A. did not yet approve its
draft annual report at December 31, 2013. Therefore, as provided by IAS 28, the value of the Group's
share (9.17%) in theassociate, accounted for under
the equity method, has been calculated on the basis of the only public and available figures related to
the associate that refer to the last quarter 2013, i.e.
the loss announced in the press release of February
12, 2014, related to disposal of the German platform
(with an impact on consolidated earnings between
euro 135 and 145 million). The Group's share of loss
(euro 12,838 thousand) represents the 9.17% of the
estimated loss (euro 140 million);
the share of loss related to RCS Mediagroup S.p.A.
was recognised for the period up to September 30,
2013 (a loss of euro 13,573 thousand), as the investment, in the fourth quarter 2013, was reclassified as
a financial asset available for sale (see the comment
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below on “Reclassifications”).
The share of other components recognised in other
comprehensive income (negative for euro 3,652
thousand) mainly refers to the Group's share of the
losses recognised directly in equity by Fenice S.r.l. in
4Q 2013 (euro 4,801 thousand), resulting from fair value adjustment of the Prelios S.p.A. Class B shares held
by it. These shares are qualified by Fenice S.r.l. as financial assets available for sale, and the fair value of
these shares was determined by applying an approximately 18% non-liquidity discount rate on the value of
Prelios S.p.A. ordinary shares (euro 0.5775 per share at
December 31, 2013). This discount was deemed necessary because of the nature of the Prelios S.p.A. Class
B shares that will be automatically converted into ordinary shares when a sales procedure is initiated and
coinciding with their transfer to third parties. The distinctive element between Class B shares and ordinary
shares is thus constituted by the lock-up restriction
implied by holding them.
The reclassifications mainly refer to:
the investment in RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. reclassified from “associate” to “financial asset available for
sale”. The following indicators that Pirelli has significant influence were considered: its participation
in the block voting shareholders' syndicate, intended to guarantee a stable ownership structure and
unified corporate management of the RCS Group,
the intensification of other forms of exercising governance rights, such as membership on the Board
of Directors and other bodies. On October 31, 2013,
the participants of the shareholders' block voting
syndicate of RCS Mediagroup (including Pirelli)
agreed not to renew the shareholders' agreement
and to dissolve it prematurely, before its originally
scheduled expiry date of March 14, 2014. Following
this decision, it is believed that the assumptions justifying the existence of significant influence by Pirelli on RCS no longer exist. As per IAS 28, once Pirelli
ceased to have significant influence, the investment
was measured at its fair value (corresponding to the
Stock Market quotation of RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. at

October 31, 2013 – euro 1.62 per share), and the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of
the shareholding (euro 27,085 thousand) was recognised in the Income Statement (with a positive effect of euro
10,395 thousand). The losses recognised directly in the equity of the associate were also reclassified to the Income
Statement (euro 1,757 thousand). Therefore, the net impact of the reclassification to income statement was positive for euro 8,638 thousand;
full consolidation of Sino Italian Wire Tech. Co. Ltd, domiciled in China, as described above in note 7 – Business
Combinations;
reclassification of the investment in PT Evoluzione Tyres, a joint venture operating in Indonesia, from subsidiary
to joint venture.
The summarised highlights for the principal associates and joint ventures are shown as a total and not on a pro-rated basis, as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Non-current assets

693,818

2,081,320

Current assets

105,449

862,926

Non-current liabilities

273,866

1,319,206

Current liabilities

100,981

969,038

73,838

1,260,453

Production costs

Revenues from sales and services

(54,968)

(1,643,793)

Net income (loss)

(87)

(396,581)

12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other financial assets totalled euro 289,096 thousand, compared to euro 118,125 thousand at December 31, 2012. The
breakdown is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Financial assets available for sale

185,009

118,125

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

104,087

-

289,096

118,125

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss refer to the “convertendo” loan, a debt-for-equity financial
instrument subscribed as part of the restructuring plan of the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A. finalised in
August 2013.
The financial instrument was designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) at initial
recognition, and is composed of 80,880 “convertendo” debt- for-equity tranche A bonds, convertible into ordinary Prelios S.p.A. shares (Class A shares), valued at euro 1,000 each, and initially recognised on the Statement of
Financial Postion at a value of euro 80,880 thousand, and 67,492 “convertendo” tranche B bonds, convertible into
Prelios S.p.A. Class B non-voting shares, valued at euro 1,000 each, initially recognised in the Statement of Financial
Position at euro 67,492 thousand.
The number of Prelios S.p.A. shares that Pirelli will obtain at maturity (December 31, 2019) will correspond to the par
value of the “convertendo” (euro 148,372 thousand) divided by the greater between the market price on conversion
and the price of the capital increase (euro 0.5953 per share). The financial instrument bears interest at a rate of 1% (PIK
interest rate), which is payable in shares on maturity.
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For the measurement at December 31, 2013 Pirelli used the assistance of an independent professional. For measurement purposes, the instrument is essentially composed of:
the value assigned to the long position on Prelios shares;
net of the value of the call option sold, which Prelios implicitly holds since it may exercise the right of conversion
at a fixed price.
The combination of the two effects resulted in a negative fair value adjustment, compared to the nominal value, of
euro 44,285 thousand, recognised in the Income Statement. The carrying amount of the financial instrument at December 31, 2013 is thus equal to euro 104,087 thousand.
For further detail refer to the note 4.2 on the Financial Risk Management Policy – Fair value measurement.
The changes during the year in financial assets available for sale are the followings
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Opening balance
Exchange difference

12.31.2012
118,125

127,037

67

-

Increases

9,931

1,981

Decreases

(29)

(1,727)

Impairment

(17,970)

(12,066)

Fair value adjustments through Equity

37,499

2,912

Transfer from investments in associated companies

37,480

-

Other
Closing balance

19
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(94)

(12)

185,009

118,125

The breakdown by individual investment is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Historical
cost

Listed stock
Mediobanca S.p.A.
Prelios S.p.A.
RCS Mediagroup S.p.A.
Other companies

A

Cumulated FV
adjustments
through equity

FV adjustments through P&L

B
90,247

12.31.2012

Previous
periods

2013

C

D

Fair value

Fair value

A+B+C+D

37,178

(16,805)

(10,429)

100,191

73,442
45

211

-

(201)

(10)

-

37,480

(6,941)

-

-

30,539

-

134

11

(11)

-

134

115

128,072

30,248

(17,017)

(10,439)

130,864

73,602

Unlisted stock
Alitalia S.p.A.

27,534

-

(15,075)

(4,925)

7,534

4,925

Fin. Priv. S.r.l.

14,458

4,836

(4,217)

(1,345)

13,732

10,241

Fondo Anastasia

13,250

1,834

-

-

15,084

12,343

Istituto Europeo di
Oncologia S.r.l.

4,039

999

-

-

5,038

5,532

F.C. Internazionale Milano
S.p.A.

7,213

-

(6,655)

-

558

550

Euroqube
Tlcom I LP
Emittenti Titoli
Equinox Two SCA
Other companies

373

-

-

-

373

1,319

-

(591)

(28)

700

728

117

2,516

-

-

2,633

1,698

6,653

-

-

(1,232)

5,421

5,346

4,154

-

(34)

(1,048)

3,072

3,160

79,110

10,185

(26,572)

(8,578)

54,145

44,523

207,182

40,433

(43,589)

(19,017)

185,009

118,125

The increases mainly relate to the capital increase related to the investments in F.C. Internazionale S.p.A. (euro 558
thousand), in Alitalia S.p.A. (euro 7,534 thousand, subscribed on November 27, 2013), and in Equinox Two S.C.A. (euro
1,179 thousand).
The impairment mainly refer to the investments in Mediobanca S.p.A for euro 10,429 thousand, Alitalia S.p.A. for euro
4,925 thousand, Fin. Priv. S.r.l. for euro 1,345 thousand and Equinox Two S.C.A. for euro 1,232 thousand. Refer also to
note 34.3 - Losses from investments.
It should also be noted that the impairments of the investments in Mediobanca S.p.A. and Fin. Priv. S.r.l. were recogniosed in the condensed consolidated half-yearly financial statements at June 30, 2013, since the limits on duration of
the impairment loss were exceeded. Because the IFRS do not allow the reversal of the impairment losses recognised
in interim financial statements, the positive fair value adjustment at December 31, 2013 has been recognised as an
increase to equity.
The fair value adjustment through equity, amounting to a net positive value of euro 37,499 thousand, mainly refers
to the equity investments in Mediobanca S.p.A (positive for euro 37,178 thousand), RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. (negative
for euro 6,941 thousand and refered to the period from the reclassification date of the investment from associate
to financial asset available for sale and ending December 31, 2013), Fin. Priv. S.r.l. (positive for euro 4,836 thousand),
Emittenti Titoli (positive for euro 935 thousand), Istituto Europeo di Oncologia (negative for euro 494 thousand), and
Fondo Comune di Investimento Immobiliare – Anastasia (positive for euro 2,741 thousand).
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The transfer from investments in associated companies (euro 37,480 thousand) refers to the investment in RCS
MediaGroup S.p.A., reclassified from “Investments in associates” to “Other financial assets” following the dissolution
of the shareholders' agreement, as described in the note related to “investments in associates and joint ventures”
– refer to note 11.
The fair value of listed financial instruments corresponds to their stock market price at December 31, 2013.
The fair value of unlisted financial instruments was determined by making estimates on the basis of the best information available.

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND PROVISION
FOR DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
This breakdown is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Deferred tax assets

210,181

207,110

Provision for deferred tax liabilities

(49,956)

(56,056)

160,225

151,054

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when a legal right exists to offset current tax receivables
and current tax payables, and the deferred taxes refer to the same legal entity and the same tax authority. Their
composition gross of the offsets made is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Deferred tax assets

12.31.2012
303,911

294,026

72,483

67,286

231,428

226,740

Provision for deferred tax liabilities

(143,686)

(142,972)

of which recoverable in 12 months

(27,247)

(3,947)

(116,439)

(139,025)

160,225

151,054

of which recoverable in 12 months
of which recoverable after 12 months

of which recoverable after 12 months
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The tax effect of temporary differences and of tax losses carried forward which make up the item at December 31,
2013 and at December 31, 2012 is shown in the following table
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Deferred tax assets:
Provisions for liabilities and charges

17,044

23,187

Employee benefit obligation

74,694

49,090

Inventories

19,161

14,402

123,254

151,661

Tax losses carried forward
Amortisation and depreciation

4,854

677

Trade receivables and other receivables

10,093

8,537

Trade payables and other payables

37,227

32,629

6,003

11,718

Derivatives
Other

11,582

2,125

Total

303,911

294,026

Provision for deferred tax liabilities:
Amortisation and depreciation

(92,047)

(132,007)

Other

(51,639)

(10,965)

Total

(143,686)

(142,972)

At December 31, 2013 unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences amounted to euro 53,132
thousand (euro 113,740 thousand at December 31, 2012), and those relating to tax losses amounted to euro 199,563
thousand (euro 167,087 thousand at December 31, 2012). These amounts refer to situations where recovery is not
deemed likely at this time.
The breakdown by maturity of the value of tax losses, for which no deferred tax assets were recognised, are shown
below
(in thousands of euro)

Year of expiry

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

2014

285

285

2015

1,414

1,424

2016

7,881

7,943

2017

5,389

5,418

2018

3,981

3,997

2019

3,148

3,159

2020

6,609

3,254

2021

6,870

6,993

2022

15,674

15,273

2027

503

503

2028

12,690

12,690

2029

878

878

2030

156

156

with no expiry

655,383

538,553

720,861

600,527
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Of the total tax losses without maturity, euro 462,995 thousand refer to losses recognised in the past by the subsidiary
Pirelli Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., in relation to which no sufficient taxable income to recover those losses is expected.
The tax effect of gains and losses recognised directly in equity was positive for euro 9,279 thousand (positive for euro
3,501 thousand at December 31, 2012), and is disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. These changes
were mainly due to the tax effects associated with actuarial gains/losses on employee benefits obligations and to the
adjustment of derivatives in cash flow hedges to their fair value.

14. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The breakdown of trade receivables is set forth below
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total
Trade receivable
Provision for bad debts

12.31.2012

Non-current

708,000

-

(41,573)

-

666,427

-

Current

Total

708,000

Non-current

Current

755,641

-

755,641

(41,573)

(51,083)

-

(51,083)

666,427

704,558

-

704,558

Out of the total of trade receivables amounting to euro 708,000 thousand (euro 755,641 thousand at December 31,
2012), net of invoices or credit notes to be issued, and gross of the provision for bad debts, euro 89,276 thousand are
overdue (euro 105,763 thousand at December 31, 2012).
Receivables overdue and not yet due were measured in accordance with the Group accounting policies described in
the section on adopted accounting standards.
Impaired receivables include both significant single positions subject to individual impairment and positions sharing
similar credit risk characteristics that have been grouped together and impaired on a collective basis.
The change in the provision for bad debts is shown below
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Opening balance

51,083

68,142

Translation differences

(2,017)

(1,400)

6,250

8,129

Accruals
Decreases

(12,646)

(24,440)

Other

(1,097)

652

Closing balance

41,573

51,083

Accruals to the provision for bad debts are recognised in the Income Statement as “Other costs” (note 33).
For trade receivables, the carrying amount is considered to approximate the fair value.
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15. OTHER RECEIVABLES
The breakdown of other receivables is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total

12.31.2012

Non-current

Current

Total

Non-current

Current

Financial receivables

77,198

59,460

17,738

327,617

261,327

66,290

Accrued income and prepaid
expenses

17,166

573

16,593

25,878

526

25,352

Receivables from employees

11,722

2,265

9,457

11,978

1,889

10,089

Receivables from social security
and welfare institutions

11,910

-

11,910

5,015

-

5,015

Receivables from tax authorities
non related to income taxes

135,209

7,857

127,352

171,819

7,158

164,661

Other receivables

184,415

99,308

85,107

169,595

99,310

70,285

437,620

169,463

268,157

711,902

370,210

341,692

(622)

-

(622)

(288)

-

(288)

436,998

169,463

267,535

711,614

370,210

341,404

Provision for bad debts

Non-current financial receivables (euro 59,460 thousand) principally include euro 47,317 thousand (euro 77,434 thousand at December 31, 2012) of amounts in escrow accounts in connection with tax and legal disputes of the subsidiary
Pirelli Pneus Ltda (Brazil), bearing interests at market rates. The reduction is related to the release and subsequent collection of about euro 19 million related to amounts previously in escrow by the Brazilian subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda.
In 2012 this item also included the loan to Prelios S.p.A. for euro 173,506 thousand. In 3Q 2013 euro 21,523 thousand
of this receivable was converted into Prelios ordinary shares, and euro 148,372 thousand was converted into equity
instruments (the “convertendo”), while the remaining euro 3,611 thousand was repaid by Prelios S.p.A. and collected.
Current financial receivables (euro 17,738 thousand) mainly include euro 8,225 thousand of loans to the associate
company GWM Renewable Energy II S.p.A., euro 2,657 thousand of the Alitalia S.p.A. subordinated convertible bond
issued on February 26, 2013 at a gross annual interest rate of 8%, and euro 4,223 thousand of the accrued coupon of
the interest rate swap on the unrated bond placed by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. on the eurobond market in February 2011 for a
total face value of euro 500 million, with a fixed coupon of 5.125% and maturity in February 2016.
The decrease compared to December 31, 2012 (euro 48,552 thousand) is mainly due to the effects of the full consolidation of the Chinese subsidiary Sino Italian Wire Technology Co Ltd, operating in the steel cord business. At December 31, 2013 it was fully consolidated, while at December 31, 2012 it was classified as an associate, and towards which
at December 31, 2012 was recognised a financial receivable for euro 32,538 thousand.
Other non-current receivables (euro 99,308 thousand) mainly refer to amounts in escrow in connection with lawsuits and tax litigation involving the Brazilian units (for euro 72,200 thousand), receivables for guarantees to Pirelli (for
euro 8,213 thousand) that may be exercised if contingent liabilities materialise in relation to the acquired company
Campneus Lider de Pneumaticos Ltda (Brazil), and receivables relating to a cash contribution (for euro 8,250 thousand) in connection with the execution of a partnership agreement.
Other current receivables (euro 85,107 thousand) mainly include euro 33,997 thousand of advances paid to suppliers, euro 12,688 thousand of receivables deriving from the settlement of the Eletrobras lawsuit in Brazil, euro 3,099
thousand of receivables from the disposal of property not used for the industrial operations in Brazil, and euro 4,437
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thousand of contributions for research and development to be received from the Region of Piedmont.
For other current and non-current receivables the carrying amount is considered to approximate their fair value.

16. TAX RECEIVABLES
Tax receivables relate to income taxes and total euro 63,494 thousand (of which euro 7,890 thousand included in
non-current assets, mainly related to amounts in escrow for tax litigation by the Brazilian subsidiary), compared to euro
37,543 thousand at December 31, 2012 (of which euro 9,297 thousand included in non-current assets). This amount
mainly refers to receivables for tax prepayments made during the year, receivables for tax withholding paid to foreign
entities and IRES (corporate income tax) for euro 15,551 thousand and receivables from previous years recognised in
favour of Pirelli & C. S.p.A. for about euro 5,000 thousand.

17. INVENTORIES
The breakdown of inventories is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Raw and auxiliary materials and consumables
Sundry materials
Work in progress and semi-finished products
Finished products
Goods for resale
Advances to suppliers

12.31.2012
205,033

255,517

7,029

6,448

77,473

81,756

691,781

747,724

2,827

6,769

3,175

4,346

987,318

1,102,560

All components of inventories at December 31, 2013 were lower compared to December 31, 2012.
The impairment of inventories recognised at December 31, 2013 amounted to euro 5,337 thousand (euro 12,518 thousand at December 31, 2012).
Inventories are not subject to any collateral pledges.

18. SECURITIES HELD FOR TRADING
Securities held for trading amounted to euro 48,090 thousand, compared to euro 224,717 thousand at December 31,
2012, reflecting a decrease of euro 176,627 thousand essentially due to the reclassification of securities having a maturity lower than three months to the item “cash and cash equivalents”.
They were comprised of:
unlisted floating-rate bonds for euro 25,309 thousand (euro 134,808 thousand at December 31, 2012);
unlisted fixed-rate bonds for euro 21,613 thousand (euro 80,413 thousand at December 31, 2012);
equities for euro 1,166 thousand (euro 8,347 thousand at December 31, 2012), including euro 1,130 thousand in
listed stock (euro 755 thousand at December 31, 2012);
other securities for euro 2 thousand (euro 1,149 thousand at December 31, 2012).
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The fair value of listed financial instruments corresponds to their stock market price at December 31, 2013.
The fair value of unlisted financial instruments was determined by making estimates on the basis of the best
information available.
Changes in fair value are recognised in the Income
Statement as “Financial expenses”.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents increase by euro 200,103
thousand, from euro 679,794 thousand at December 31,
2012 to euro 879,897 thousand at December 31, 2013.
This was mainly due to the reclassification of securities
having a maturity shorter than three months from “securities held for trading” and to the collection by the Brazilian subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda of amounts previously
in escrow totalling about euro 19,000 thousand.
Cash and cash equivalents are concentrated in the
Group’s holding companies and at companies that generate cash and invest it locally. They are essentially invested on the market for short-term maturity deposits
with major banking counterparties at interest rates in
line with the prevailing market terms.
In the statement of cash flows, the balance of cash and
cash equivalents is net of bank overdrafts amounting to
euro 73,041 thousand at December 31, 2013 (euro 14,790
thousand at December 31, 2012).

20. EQUITY
20.1 E
 quity attributable to
owners of the Parent
The equity attributable to owners of the Parent rose
from euro 2,337,403 thousand at December 31, 2012 to
euro 2,376,066 thousand at December 31, 2013.
The change from December 31, 2012 (positive for euro
38,663 thousand) is substantially due to the net result
of the year (positive for euro 303,574 thousand), the
combined effect of inflation/devaluation deriving from
the application of inflation accounting in Venezuela
(positive for euro 49,470 thousand), the fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments in cash

flow hedges net of its tax effect (positive for euro 14,472
thousand), the fair value adjustment of financial assets
available for sale (positive for euro 33,631 thousand),
actuarial gains on pension funds net of the related tax
effect (positive for euro 22,823 thousand), offset by the
negative changes related to dividend payouts (euro
156,743 thousand), and exchange differences from
translation into euro of the financial statements of subsidiaries which have functional currencies other than
euro (euro 226,695 thousand).
The subscribed and paid-up share capital at December 31, 2013 (including treasury shares) is represented
by 475,740,182 ordinary shares and 12,251,311 savings
shares, without par value and having normal entitlements, for a total of euro 1,345,381 thousand. The share
capital is presented net of the value of treasury shares
(351,590 ordinary shares and 408,342 savings shares),
for a net total of euro 1,343,285 thousand. Total treasury shares represents 0.16% of share capital.
The equity per share was euro 4.869, compared to
euro 4.790 at December 31, 2012.

20.2 Equity attributable
to non-controlling
interests
The equity attributable to non-controlling interests
rose from euro 52,026 thousand at December 31, 2012
to euro 60,523 thousand at December 31, 2013. The net
increase of euro 8,497 thousand is mainly due to the
net result for the year (positive for euro 2,918 thousand)
and to the 51% shareholding in Sino Italian Wire Tech.
Co. Ltd, fully consolidated beginning on December
31, 2013 (euro 9,494 thousand), which is offset by the
decrease due the dividends paid out (euro 2,921 thousand) and by the acquisition of 40% of Yanzhou Hixih
Ecotech Environment Co. Ltd. raising the Group shareholding from 60% to 100% (euro 3,003 thousand, equal
to its carrying amount).
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21. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
The changes that occurred during the period are shown below
PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES - NON-CURRENT PORTION (in thousands of euro)
Opening balance

142,230

Translation differences

(15,294)

Increases

17,806

Uses

(19,192)

Reversals

(13,585)

Other
Closing balance at 31 December 2013

4,780
116,745

The non-current portion of provisions for liabilities and charges mainly refer to accruals made by the Brazilian
subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda for lawsuits and tax litigation (euro 45,223 thousand) and labour lawsuits (euro 30,239
thousand) and by the parent company Pirelli & C. S.p.A. for tax litigation (euro 19,067 thousand) and commercial risks,
site remediation and labour disputes (euro 18,101 thousand).
The increases mainly refer to accruals for labour disputes of the subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda – Brazil.
The uses relate to costs incurred, mainly in labour lawsuits by the subsidiary Pirelli Pneus Ltda – Brazil and in labour
lawsuits and site clean-up by the parent company Pirelli & C. S.p.A.
The reversals of excess provisions were largely related to tax litigation involving the parent company Pirelli & C. S.p.A.
(euro 7,038 thousand) for challenges that were extinguished when the appellate court decisions against the Italian
Revenue Agency (Agenzia delle Entrate) became final after that agency did not appeal to the Court of Cassation (the
highest court of appeal in Italy), provisions related to license concession as at the parent company Pirelli & C. S.p.A.
(euro 4,706 thousand) when the risk ceased to exist.
PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES - CURRENT PORTION (in thousands of euro)
Opening balance

110,839

Translation differences

(4,296)

Increases

25,771

Uses

(19,877)

Reversals

(16,128)

Other

(6,220)

Closing balance at 31 December 2013

90,089
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The current portion of provisions for liabilities and charges mainly include accruals for technical claims and product warranties (euro 22,815 thousand), site remediation of disused area of land (euro 8,042 thousand), reorganisation
and closure of business units (euro 16,521 thousand), litigation for occupational diseases (euro 10,780 thousand), tax
risks (euro 4,390 thousand), labour lawsuits (euro 4,117 thousand), industrial accident insurance (euro 4,601 thousand)
and legal lawsuites (euro 3,883 thousand).
The increases mainly refer to provisions for product claims, occupational diseases, civil lawsuits and reorganisation
or closure of activities.
The uses are mainly related to costs incurred to close pending actions against business units domiciled in Italy for
occupational disease lawsuits and in Germany for corporate reorganisation.
The reversals of excess provisions mainly concerned technical claims (euro 8,270 thousand), product warranties
(euro 1,663 thousand) and labour lawsuits (euro 1,512 thousand).

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
This item includes
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Pension funds:
funded
unfunded
Employees'leaving indemnity
(Italian companies)
Healthcare plans
Other long term benefits

222,242

271,288

93,763

99,681

44,496

47,007

17,333

20,403

61,616

84,578

439,450

522,957

Pension funds
The following table shows the breakdown of pension funds at December 31, 2013
(in migliaia di euro)

12.31.2013
Total
unfunded
pension
funds

Other
countries

Total funded
pension
funds

USA

UK

Present value of funded
liabilities

124,986

973,635

4,527

1,103,148

Fair value of plan assets

(98,799)

(778,403)

(3,704)

(880,906)

26,187

195,232

823

222,242

Germany

Sweden

Funded funds

Unfunded funds
Present value of unfunded
liabilities

90,087

3,676

93,763

Net liabilities recognised

90,087

3,676

93,763
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The following table shows the breakdown of pension funds at December 31, 2012
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2012
Total
unfunded
pension
funds

Other
countries

Total funded
pension
funds

USA

UK

Present value
of funded liabilities

145,518

974,197

4,517

1,124,232

Fair value of plan assets

(94,134)

(755,093)

(3,717)

(852,944)

51,384

219,104

800

271,288

Germany

Sweden

Funded funds

Unfunded funds
Present value
of unfunded liabilities

95,693

3,988

99,681

Net liabilities recognised

95,693

3,988

99,681

The characteristics of the principal pension funds in place at December 31, 2013 are summarized below:
Germany: this is an unfunded defined-benefit plan based on the last salary. It provides a pension in addition to
the state pension. The plan was closed in October 1982; consequently the participants to thisplan are employees
whose employment began prior to that date;
USA: this is a funded defined-benefit plan based on the last salary. It provides a pension in addition to the state
pension and is administered by a trust. The plan was closed in 2001 and frozen in 2003 for employees who were
transferred to a defined-contribution scheme. All participants to this plan have retired;
UK: these are funded defined-benefit plans based on the last salary. They provide a pension in addition to the state
pension and are administered in trusts. These plans were closed in 2001. The Pirelli Tyres Ltd plan was frozen in
2010 for employees hired before 2001, who were transferred to a defined contribution plan. The plan operated by
the subsidiary Pirelli UK Ltd, which includes the employees in the Cables and Systems segment sold in 2005, was
already frozen at the date of the sale in 2005;
Sweden: this involves a defined benefits plan (ITP2), which was closed to new participants, and the only participants are retired employees and recipients of deferred pensions.
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The following changes occurred in the net liabilities in 2013
(in migliaia di euro)

Present value
of obligation
Opening balance at 1 January 2013
Exchange difference

Fair value
of plan assets

Total

1,223,913

(852,944)

370,969

(26,077)

19,646

(6,431)

Movements through income statement:
Current service cost
interest expense / (income)

923

923

50,201

(36,347)

13,854

51,124

(36,347)

14,777

Remeasurements recognized in equity:
(gain) loss from change in demographic
assumptions

(13,089)

(13,089)

(gain) loss from change in financial assumptions

20,009

20,009

e
 xperience (gains) losses

(1,702)

(1,702)

r eturn on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest income

Employer's contributions
Plan participants' contributions
Benefits paid
Other
Closing balance at 31 December 2013

(23,376)

(23,376)

5,218

(23,376)

(18,158)

-

(45,888)

(45,888)

28

(28)

-

(56,865)

56,865

-

(429)

1,165

736

1,196,912

(880,907)

316,005
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The following changes occurred in the net liabilities in 2012
(in thousands of euro)

Present value
of obligation
Opening balance at 1 January 2012
Exchange difference
Business combination

Fair value
of plan assets

Total

1,160,622

(809,204)

18,788

(14,915)

351,419
3,873

3,278

3,278

811

811

Movements through income statement:
Current service cost
interest expense / (income)

55,326

(39,544)

15,782

56,137

(39,544)

16,593

Remeasurements recognized in equity:
(gain) loss from change in demographic
assumptions

-

-

(gain) loss from change in financial assumptions

51,753

51,753

e
 xperience (gains) losses

(3,142)

(3,142)

r eturn on plan assets, excluding amounts
included in interest income
48,611
Employer's contributions
Plan participants' contributions
Benefits paid
Other
Closing balance at 31 December 2012 *

(5,298)

(5,298)

(5,298)

43,313

(47,508)

(47,508)

27

(27)

-

(63,109)

63,109

-

(441)

441

-

1,223,913

(852,944)

370,969

* The figures of 2012 have been restated due to the new standard IAS 19 revised "employee benefits" being effective from 1.1.2013

The service cost is included in the item “Personnel expense” (note 31), while the interest expense / (income) is included in the item “Financial expenses” (note 36).
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The following table shows the breakdown of funded pension fund assets
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
listed

unlisted

12.31.2012

total

%

listed

unlisted

total

%

Shares

70,300

170,224

240,523

27%

44,583

110,162

154,745

18%

Bonds

75,664

115,653

191,318

22%

56,506

166,010

222,516

26%

-

3,704

3,704

0%

-

3,717

3,717

1%

Deposits

102,145

43,221

145,366

17%

-

211,270

211,270

25%

Balanced
funds

-

250,004

250,004

28%

-

233,239

233,239

27%

Real Estate

-

29,448

29,448

3%

-

18,499

18,499

2%

Derivatives

8,926

1,934

10,860

1%

-

(590)

(590)

0%

-

9,683

9,683

1%

-

9,549

9,549

1%

257,036

623,871

880,906

100%

101,089

751,855

852,944

100%

Insurances

Other

The principal risks to which the Group is exposed in relation to the pension funds are detailed as follows:
volatility in the assets servicing the plans: to limit the liabilities, the investment strategy privileges assets which are
expected to have relatively high and stable returns over the long-term. This implies that certain investments, such
as listed shares, feature high volatility over the short term, and that this exposes the plans to risks of reduction
in the value of assets in the short-term, consequently increasing liabilities. However, this risk is mitigated by the
diversification of the investments into different investment classes, through different investment managers and
different investment styles. Moreover, the investments are continuously revised in response to market conditions,
with adjustments to maintain the overall risk at adequate levels;
changes in the yields of bonds and inflation forecasts: forecasts of falling returns on the bonds and/or rising inflation lead to an increase in the value of liabilities. The plans reduce this risk by making investments in “liability hedging” assets. In the United Kingdom, the protection assured by a portfolio of this type was built over the last several
years, and in June 2014 the interest rate and inflation rate risks impinging on the liabilities will be fully hedged;
life expectancy: growing life expectancy entails an increase in the value of plan liabilities. The plans do not protect
themselves directly against this risk. The liabilities are measured by using prudent hypotheses whose adequacy is
revised periodically.
In the United Kingdom, the management of assets servicing the plans was delegated to an asset manager who manages the assets in relation to a liability benchmark, which approximates the change in value of the liabilities. The key
parameters of this mandate may be summarised as follows:
a mix of assets under dynamic management over time, rather than a fixed strategic allocation;
hedging of about 70-75% of the risk related to interest and inflation rates – constructed as a percentage of the
asset value – through the use of debt instruments (government bonds) and derivatives;
management of foreign exchange risk with the goal of hedging at least 70% of the exposure to foreign currencies
held in the portfolio through use of forward contracts.
In the United Kingdom, the funding arrangements and funding policies are revised once every three years. The next
funding review is scheduled to take place in 2014. In the United States, the funding assessments are made annually.
The contributions expected to be paid into the pension funds during 2014 total euro 42,901 thousand.
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Employees’ leaving indemnities (TFR)
Employees’ leaving indemnities (for Italian companies) changed as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Opening balance

12.31.2012
47,007

40,484

Movements through Income Statement:
C
 urrent service cost
Interest cost

236

259

1,446

1,772

(1,230)

7,231

Remeasurements through equity:
a
 ctuarial (gains) losses arising from changes in financial assumptions
e
 ffect of experience adjustments
Payments/advances
Other
Closing balance

(617)

-

(2,056)

(2,551)

(290)

(188)

44,496

47,007

The service cost is included in the item “Personnel expense” (note 31), while the interest expense is included in the
item “Financial expenses” (note 36).

Healthcare plans
This item refers exclusively to the healthcare plan in place in the United States subsidiary
(in thousands of euro)

USA
Liabilities recognised at 12.31.2013

17,333

Liabilities recognised at 12.31.2012

20,403

The following changes occurred during the period
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2012
Restated

12.31.2013
Opening balance
Translation differences

20,403

21,270

(799)

(399)

Movements through Income Statement:
c
 urrent service cost
interest cost

5

4

710

881

(968)

1.535

(777)

(1,575)

Remeasurements through equity:
a
 ctuarial (gains) losses arising from changes in financial assumptions
e
 ffect of experience adjustments
Benefits paid

(1,240)

(1,312)

Closing balance

17,333

20,403
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The service cost is included in the item “Personnel expense” (note 31), while the interest expense is included in the
item “Financial expenses” (note 36).
The contributions expected to be paid into the healthcare plan during 2014 total euro 1,397 thousand.

Additional information regarding post-employment benefits
Net actuarial losses accrued in 2013 and recognised directly in equity totalled euro 22,823 thousand (at December 31,
2012 net actuarial losses totalled euro 52,713 thousand).
The principal actuarial assumptions used at December 31, 2013 are as follows
Italy

Germany

Netherlands

Sweden

UK

USA

Discount rate

3.40%

3.40%

3.40%

4.00%

4.70%

4.40%

Inflation rate

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

3.33%

-

Expected rate of wage and salary increases

-

3.00%

2.00%

-

-

-

Healthcare cost trend rates - initial

-

-

-

-

-

7.50%

Healthcare cost trend rates - final

-

-

-

-

-

4.50%

The principal actuarial assumptions used at December 31, 2012 were as follows
Italy

Germany

Netherlands

Sweden

UK

USA

Discount rate

3.15%

3.15%

3.15%

3.60%

4,55% - 4,60%

3.75%

Inflation rate

-

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2.00%

2,80% - 2,90%

Expected rate of wage and salary increases

-

3.00%

2.00%

-

-

-

Healthcare cost trend rates - initial

-

-

-

-

-

7.50%

Healthcare cost trend rates - final

-

-

-

-

-

4.50%

The following table shows the analysis of the payment by due dates related to the post-employment benefits
(in thousands of euro)

within 1 year
Pension funds

1 to 2 years

3 to 5 years

over 5 years

Total

58,232

59,104

182,672

321,719

621,727

Employees' leaving
indemnities (TFR)

1,754

1,675

6,121

31,843

41,393

Healthcare plan

1,397

1,378

4,104

6,376

13,255

61,383

62,157

192,897

359,938

676,375
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The weighted average duration of the obligations for post-employment benefits is 15.72 years.
The following table sets forth the sensitivity analysis for the relevant actuarial assumptions at the end of the financial year
(in %)

Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change
in assumption

Increase in assumption

Decrease in assumption

Discount rate

0.25%

decrease by

3.73%

increase by

3.97%

Inflation rate (only UK plans)

0.25%

increase by

3.48%

decrease by

3.49%

The sole purpose of the analysis above consists in estimating the change in liability according to changes in the discount rates and inflation rate in the United Kingdom close to the principal assumption of the rates themselves, rather
than referring to an alternative set of assumptions.
The sensitivity analysis of the liability related to post-employment benefits is based on the same method used to
calculate the liability recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Other long-term benefits
The table below sets forth the breakdown of other long-term benefits
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Long-term incentive plans

12.31.2012
-

12,371

Jubilee awards

16,093

16,419

Leaving indemnities - non Italian companies

34,898

35,931

Other long-term benefits

10,625

19,857

61,616

84,578

The long-term incentive plans, amounting to euro 12,371 thousand at December 31, 2012, represented the best estimate of the three-year Long Term Incentive 2012-2014 incentive plan reserved for Pirelli Group management. This
plan was subordinated on pre-set performance targets being met at the Pirelli & C. S.p.A. Group level during the
2012-2014 period. This plan has been superseded. In fact, the Pirelli Board of Directors decided to terminate the LTI
2012-2014 plan effective December 31, 2013. It was terminated without any full or pro-rated payouts of the three-year
incentive. At the same time, the Board of Directors approved adoption of a new plan in connection with the targets
for 2014-2016 set out in the Industrial Plan 2013-2017.
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23. BORROWINGS FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
The following table sets forth the amounts owed to banks and other financial institutions
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total
Bonds
Borrowings from banks
Borrowings from other financial
institutions
Finance lease payables
Financial accrued expenses
and deferred income
Other financial payables

Non-current

12.31.2012
Current

Total

Non-current

Current

607,157

607,157

-

614,150

614,150

-

1,659,221

1,401,490

257,731

1,735,226

1,352,850

382,376

11,740

2,929

8,811

6,466

4,890

1,576

1,345

1,080

265

17,354

4,313

13,041

43,395

97

43,298

47,565

4,413

43,152

8,201

1,653

6,548

15,540

15,159

381

2,331,059

2,014,406

316,653

2,436,301

1,995,775

440,526

The item bonds refers to:
the unrated bond placed by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. on the Eurobond market for an aggregate nominal amount in February 2011 of euro 500 million, with a fixed coupon of 5.125% and maturity in February 2016;
t he private placement made by Pirelli International Ltd on the American market for an aggregate nominal amount
of USD 150 million (equal to euro 108,767 thousand based on the exchange rate at December 31, 2013), with a
duration of between 5 and 12 years and an average coupon of 5.05%.
The carrying amounts of the bonds were determined as follows
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Nominal value
Transaction costs

12.31.2012
608,767

613,688

(6,136)

(6,149)

Amortisation of effective interest rate

2,942

1,816

Adjustment for fair value hedge

1,584

4,795

607,157

614,150

Bank borrowings, amounting to euro 1,659,220 thousand, mainly consist of:
loans granted by the European Investment Bank (EIB) to Pirelli & C. S.p.A. and Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. for research and
development projects and to S.C. Pirelli Tyres Romania S.r.l. for local industrial investments. These loans total Euro
250,000 thousand (euro 275,000 thousand at December 31, 2012), were fully used, and are classified as non-current bank borrowings (at December 31, 2012 euro 25,000 thousand classified as current bank borrowings and euro
250,000 thousand classified as non-current bank borrowings);
 uro 575,000 thousand for utilisation of the syndicated facility (euro 575,000 thousand at December 31, 2012),
e
granted to Pirelli & C. S.p.A., Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. and Pirelli International Limited for a total amount of euro 1,200,000
thousand, subscribed on November 30, 2010 and having a duration of five years. These utilisations were classified
as non-current bank borrowings;
euro 154,542 thousand for the Schuldschein, a syndicated loan by the lender on the basis of a German law debt
security, granted to Pirelli International Ltd and guaranteed by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. and Pirelli Tyre S.p.A., disbursed on
December 14, 2012 with a duration of between 3, 5 and 7 years, classified under non-current bank borrowings;
euro 161,839 thousand classified as non-current bank borrowings, granted by Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria
to the Mexican subsidiaries in December 2012 with a duration of 5 years and by Bancomext in 1H 2013 with a
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duration of 7 years. Both of these loans are guaranteed by Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. The loan received from
Bancomext is covered by a secured guarantee;
euro 15,861 thousand, including euro 10,224 thousand classified as non-current bank borrowings,
granted by Banco Nacion Argentina between October 2011 and June 2012 to Pirelli Neumaticos
S.A.I.C. The duration of the loan is 5 years and is
covered by a secured guarantee;
use of credit lines at local level, in China, Brazil and
Turkey, for euro 451,302 thousand.
Aside from cash and securities held for trading of euro
927,987 thousand, at December 31, 2013 the Group had
unused committed credit facilities of euro 625,000
thousand (euro 625,000 thousand at December 31,
2012) expiring in 2015.
The decrease in payables for finance lease compared
to previous year (euro 12,562 thousand) is entirely due
to the redemption, in July 2013, of the land and building held under finance lease where the Tyre R&D offices in Italy and Prelios S.p.A. are located (euro 12,562
thousand).
Accrued financial expenses and deferred financial
income (euro 43,396 thousand) mainly refer to the portion of interest accrued on bonds (euro 21,974 thousand, unchanged from December 31, 2012) and interest
rate swaps (euro 17,717 thousand; euro 17,854 thousand
at December 31, 2012).
Other current financial payables include euro 6,284
thousand for the fair value of the put option in favour
of the Faria da Silva family for the remaining 20% of
Campneus Lider de Pneumaticos Ltda, 60% acquired
by Pirelli in 1H 2012, with the obligation to acquire the
first, additional share of 20% by June 30, 2014 and with
the option granted to the seller to sell the last 20% to
Pirelli by June 30, 2017. The decrease in other financial
payables from 2012 is attributable to the aforementioned purchase of the first addditional 20%, which occurred in 1H 2013, in accordance with the provisions of
the agreement.
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Other non-current financial payables includes euro
1,650 thousand of security deposit towards Prelios
S.p.A., related to the lease of the R&D building, for the
entire duration of the lease (October 15, 2012 – October 14, 2018).
Current and non-current financial payables backed by
secured guarantees (pledges and mortgages) totalled
euro 74,503 thousand (euro 42,058 thousand at December 31, 2012).
Current financial payables include the portion of
non-current financial payables, totalling euro 123,000
thousand (euro 297,000 thousand at December 31,
2012), that will be settled within one year.

The carrying amount of current payables is considered to approximate their fair value. The table below compares the
fair value of non-current financial payables with their carrying amount
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Carrying amount

12.31.2012
Fair value

Carrying amount

Fair value

Bond Pirelli & C. S.p.A.

499,217

533,010

501,291

Private placement - Pirelli International Ltd

107,940

108,774

112,860

108,774

1,401,490

987,367

1,352,850

1,364,677

Borrowings from banks
Othr non-current financial payables

533,010

5,759

5,759

28,775

28,775

2,014,406

1,634,910

1,995,776

2,035,236

The bond issued by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. is listed on an active market and its fair value was measured its prices at the end
of the year. It is thus classified as level 1 in the hierarchy.
The fair value of the private placement in U.S. dollars issued by Pirelli International Ltd and the fair value of the bank
borrowings were calculated by discounting each debtor cash flow at the market swap rate for the currency and at the
reference maturity date, increased by the Group credit rating. They are classified as level 2 in the hierarchy.
At December 31, 2013, the breakdown of bank borrowings and other payables to lenders by interest rate and by currency of origin of the debt is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

Fixed rate
EUR
BRL (Brazilian Real)
CNY (Chinese Renminbi)
RON (Romanian Leu)

Floating rate

46,446

Total

6,139

52,585

125,732

-

125,732

54,835

-

54,835

(205)

-

(205)

TRY (Turkish Lira)

53,608

-

53,608

Other currencies

30,078

20

30,098

Current payables
EUR
US Dollar
BRL (Brazilian Real)
CNY (Chinese Renminbi)

310,494

98%

6,159

2%

316,653

1,303,486

124,531

1,428,017

29,588

80,895

110,483

104,008

93,049

197,057

-

58,878

58,878

RON (Romanian Leu)

-

49,812

49,812

MXN (Mexican Pesos)

-

160,296

160,296

9,763

-

9,763

100

-

100

ARS (Argentinian Pesos)
Other currencies
Non current payables

1,446,945

72%

567,461

28%

2,014,406

1,757,439

75%

573,620

25%

2,331,059
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The breakdown at at December 31, 2012 was as follows
(in thousands of euro)

Fixed rate
EUR

Floating rate

Total

54,460

18,799

73,259

264,645

-

264,645

CNY (Chinese Renminbi)

40,894

-

40,894

RON (Romanian Leu)

25,873

-

25,873

TRY (Turkish Lira)

29,943

-

29,943

BRL (Brazilian Real)

Other currencies

5,912

Current payables

421,727

EUR

96%

18,799

5,912
4%

440,526

1,316,519

121,793

US Dollar

37,998

81,195

1,438,312
119,193

BRL (Brazilian Real)

36,197

130,492

166,690

CNY (Chinese Renminbi)

-

71,696

71,696

RON (Romanian Leu)

-

49,996

49,996

-

116,592

116,592

22,197

-

22,197

MXN (Mexican Pesos)
ARS (Argentinian Pesos)
Other currencies

-

Non current payables

10,400

10,400

1,413,611

71%

582,164

29%

1,995,775

1,835,338

75%

600,963

25%

2,436,301

The value of fixed-rate payables indicated above includes those established by contracts as fixed-rate payables and
those established by contracts as variable-rate payables, for which hedging derivatives have been put in place.
The Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on financial payables, both in terms of the type of rate and their
resetting date, are summarised below
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total
Up to 6 months
From 6 to 12 months
From 1 to 5 years
More than 5 years

Fixed rate

12.31.2012
Floating rate

Total

Fixed rate

Floating rate

872,224

298,604

573,620

889,636

419,430

470,206

6,589

6,589

-

12,701

12,701

-

1,424,426

1,424,426

-

1,506,501

1,375,744

130,757

27,820

27,820

-

27,463

27,463

-

2,331,059

1,757,439

573,620

2,436,301

1,835,338

600,963

The average cost of debt during 2013 was 6.23%.
With regard to the financial covenants and negative pledge clauses, it should be noted that:
the revolving credit line granted to Pirelli & C. S.p.A., Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. and Pirelli International Limited for a total
of euro 1,200,000 thousand, and withdrawn for euro 575,000 thousand, is subject to one financial covenant: a
certain ratio between consolidated net indebtedness and gross operating profit must be maintained. This param-
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eter was fully satisfied at December 31, 2013. With regard to the negative pledges, the credit facility provides for
a commitment not to grant secured guarantees, above a threshold defined as the greater between euro 100,000
thousand and 3% of Total Assets (as per the consolidated financial statements of Pirelli & C. S.p.A.), with the exception of secured guarantees on the existing debt or debt to replace it, to be granted pursuant to law, relating to
trade finance, project finance and subsidised finance or on loans provided by supranational entities;
the private placement for a total of USD 150 million with due dates falling between December 5, 2017 and December 5, 2024 envisages, aside from the commitments indicated hereinabove:
the respect of the ratio between non-centralised indebtedness (referred to companies other than Pirelli International Limited, Pirelli & C. S.p.A. and Pirelli Tyre S.p.A.) and total assets as reported in the consolidated
financial statements of Pirelli & C. S.p.A. set at 25% (and the ratio between secured debt and total assets not
exceeding 15% in any event);
introduction of a financial covenant whereby the ratio between gross operating profit and financial expenses
as reported in the consolidated financial statements of Pirelli & C. S.p.A. be greater than or equal to 3.5 when
the ratio between net consolidated indebtedness and gross operating profit is greater than 2.5. Both of these
parameters were satisfied at December 31,2013;
the Schuldschein obtained by Pirelli International Limited for a nominal total amount of euro 155,000 thousand,
with due dates falling between June 14, 2016 and December 14, 2019 envisages, in the case of negative pledges,
the undertaking not to grant secured guarantees beyond the threshold defined as being the higher between euro
100,000 thousand and 3% of Total Assets (as per the consolidated financial statements of Pirelli & C. S.p.A.), with
the exception of secured guarantees on existing debt or debt to replace it, to be granted pursuant to law, relating
to trade finance, project finance and subsidised finance, or on loans granted by supranational entities.
The other outstanding financial payables do not contain financial covenants.

24. TRADE PAYABLES
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total
Suppliers
Notes payable

12.31.2012

Non-current

Current

Total

Non-current

Current

1,233,162

-

1,233,162

1,251,404

-

1,251,404

11,304

-

11,304

17,279

-

17,279

1,244,466

-

1,244,466

1,268,683

-

1,268,683

The carrying amount of trade payables is considered to approximate their fair value.
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25. OTHER PAYABLES
The following table sets forth the breakdown of other payables
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Total
Trade accrued liabilities
and deferred income

12.31.2012

Non-current

79,897

36,054

Tax payables

93,799

Payables to employees

111,317

Payables to social security
and welfare intitutions

64,027

Dividends payable
Other payables

Current

Total

Non-current

Current

43,843

77,033

28,393

48,640

5,038

88,761

103,967

8,860

95,107

856

110,461

86,555

154

86,401

22,781

41,246

60,867

20,862

40,005

2,076

-

2,076

1,870

-

1,870

159,895

12,124

147,771

157,907

12,374

145,533

511,011

76,853

434,158

488,199

70,643

417,556

Non-current trade accrued liabilities and deferred income include euro 28,571 thousand for capital grants received
for investments made in Mexico and Romania.
Current trade accrued liabilities and deferred income include euro 11,360 thousand for the tax incentive tied to the
Gravataì project realised in Brazil and apportioned on the duration of the investment amortisation period, euro 6,402
thousand for public contributions paid by the Region of Piedmont, related to the plant financing granted to build the
New Technological Centre and whose benefits are recognised in the Income Statement in proportion to the costs for
which the contribution was made, and euro 3,506 thousand for insurance coverage.
Tax payables is mainly comprised of payables for VAT or equivalent taxes, indirect taxes not related to income, and
withholding tax for employees.
Current payables to employees mainly include amounts accrued during the period but not yet paid, including the
estimate of incentives.
Other current payables (euro 147,771 thousand) mainly consist of:
euro 84,531 thousand for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (euro 95,568 thousand at December
31, 2012);
 uro 11,993 thousand for income withholding tax (euro 7,838 thousand at December 31, 2012);
e
euro 8,993 thousand for the acquisition of 25 retail outlets belonging to Reifen Wagner I.S. Autoservice GmbH &
Co and Tire Wagner GmbH (Germany);
euro 8,835 thousand for customer advances (euro 7,491 thousand at December 31, 2012);
euro 6,693 thousand for payables to representatives, agents, professionals and consultants (euro 5,263 thousand
at December 31, 2012);
euro 2,527 thousand for payables to directors, statutory auditors and supervisory bodies (euro 3,041 thousand at
December 31, 2012).
For other current and non-current payables, the carrying amount is considered to approximate their fair value.
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26. TAX PAYABLES
The tax payables mainly relate to national and regional income taxes and total euro 83,809 thousand (of which euro
3,537 thousand recognised in non-current liabilities), compared to euro 81,781 thousand at December 31, 2012 (of
which euro 4,172 thousand recognised in non-current liabilities).

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
This item includes the fair value of derivative instruments outstanding at December 31, 2013. The following table
shows the breakdown
(in thousands of euro)

12.31.2013
Current Assets

12.31.2012

Current Liabilities

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Hedge accounting not adopted
Foreign currency derivatives commercial transactions

17,255

(13,544)

28,847

(25,588)

4,438

(3,175)

13,065

(19,168)

575

-

296

0

Foreign currency derivatives commercial transactions

384

(1,482)

603

(927)

Interest rate derivatives

513

(38,824)

Foreign currency derivatives included in net financial position
Other derivatives - included
in net financial position
Hedge accounting adopted
c
 ash flow hedge:

Other derivatives

(14)

(50,665)
117

fair value hedge
Interest rate derivatives included in net financial position

Total derivatives included
in net financial position

1,653

4,775

24,818

(57,039)

47,703

(96,348)

6,666

(3,175)

18,136

(19,168)

Derivative financial instruments without adoption of hedge accounting
The value of foreign currency derivatives corresponds to the fair value of forward currency purchases/sales outstanding at the closing date of the period. These involve hedges of Group commercial and financial transactions
for which hedge accounting was not adopted. The fair value is determined by using the forward exchange rate at
the reporting date.

Derivative financial instruments with adoption of hedge accounting
Cash flow hedge
The value of interest rate derivatives, recognised under current liabilities for euro 38,824 thousand (euro 50,665
thousand at December 31, 2012), consists mainly of:
euro 20,302 thousand (euro 39,566 thousand at December 31, 2012) for the fair value of 12 “plain vanilla” interest
rate swaps on a total notional amount of euro 575 million maturing in February 2015, which envisage the payment
of an average fixed interest rate and collection of a variable interest rate. These derivatives were made to hedge
against the risk of change in interest rates associated with the variable rate revolving syndicated credit facility
granted to Pirelli & C. S.p.A., Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. and Pirelli International Limited for a total amount of euro 1,200,000
thousand and of which euro 575,000 thousand was used at December 31, 2013.
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	The amount recognised in equity during the period for the effective part was euro 15,068 thousand,
broken down as follows:
euro 10,669 thousand for profits recognised in
equity during the period;
euro 4,399 thousand for reclassification to the
Income Statement of losses previously accumulated in equity (refer to note 36 “financial
expenses”);
euro 17,423 thousand (euro 8,420 thousand at December 31, 2012) for the fair value of four cross currency interest rate swaps negotiated in November
2012 to hedge exposure to currency risk and limit
exposure to the interest rate risk associated with the
private placement by Pirelli International Ltd on the
American market for an aggregate nominal amount
of USD 150 million, having a duration of between
5 and 12 years (refer to note 23 “Borrowings from
banks and other financial institutions”). The aim is
to hedge against changes in the cash flows of the
payable denominated in foreign currency (both
principal and interest) tied to changes in foreign
exchange rates. A negative amount for euro 4,437
thousand was recognised in equity for the year.
Fair value hedge
The value of interest rate derivatives recognised as
current assets for euro 1,653 thousand (euro 4,775 thousand at December 31, 2012) includes the fair value of five
interest rate swaps on a notional amount of euro 125
million, made to hedge the risk of changes in the fair
value of a portion of the fixed rate bond issued by Pirelli
& C. S.p.A. in February 2011 for euro 500 million (refer
to note 23 “Borrowings from banks and other financial
institutions”). Fair value hedge accounting was adopted
for these derivative financial instruments, according to
which the negative change in fair value of the derivative
instrument (euro 3,122 thousand at December 31, 2013)
is recognised in the Income Statement and is offset by a
gain on the bond attributable to the risk hedged for the
same amount, recognised in the Income Statement as
financial income and that adjusted the carrying amount
of the bond (“basis adjustment”).
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28. COMMITMENT

S
AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments to purchase property,
plant and equipment
The commitments to purchase property, plant and
equipment amount to euro 109,535 thousand (euro
120,735 thousand at December 31, 2012), and mostly
relates to companies in Russia, Romania, Brazil, Germany, Italy, Mexico and Turkey.

Commitments to purchase
of equity interests/fund units
These refer to commitments to subscribe units of the
company Equinox Two S.c.a., a private equity company specialised in investments in listed and unlisted
companies with high growth potential, for a maximum
countervalue of euro 2,801 thousand.

Guarantees given on the sale of Olimpia
On the sale of the interest in Olimpia S.p.A., the sellers
(Pirelli and Sintonia) remained contractually liable for
all the contingent tax liabilities regarding the years up
to the date of sale. The settled or outstanding tax litigation can be summarised as follows.
At the end of 2006, the Italian Internal Revenue Agency
(“Agenzia delle Entrate”) served Olimpia S.p.A. with an
assessment notice for 2001, concerning IRAP (regional
tax on productive activity).
More precisely, on the basis of an absolutely unfounded
assumption both legally and economically, the Agenzia delle Entrate had found that non-existent financial
income had been realised on the Bell Bond Loan redeemable with Olivetti shares, with a consequent IRAP
tax of euro 26.5 million (with euro 21.2 million being
the portion attributable to the owners of Pirelli & C.
S.p.A.), plus penalties for the same amount. The Company appealed against this tax assessment, claiming
that the ascertained taxable income was manifestly
non-existent. At the trial level, the Trial Tax Court accepted the Company’s appeal, cancelling the entire tax
assessment. The Agenzia delle Entrate subsequently
appealed this decision. The appeal by the Agenzia delle

Entrate was also rejected by the Regional Tax Court.
Notwithstanding the unexceptionable double judgements against it, the Agenzia delle Entrate filed an appeal before the Court of Cassation, against which the
Company has filed a cross-appeal. It is awaiting scheduling of the hearing before the Court of Cassation. As
mentioned above, there are grounds to believe that the
final judgement will be favourable.
In the assessment for the 2002 tax year, served at the
end of 2007, Olimpia was classified as a “shell company,” on the basis of perfectly arbitrary reclassification of
items on its financial statements and arbitrary statutory interpretations. The tax challenge was extinguished
when the Appeal Court decision became final and the
Agenzia delle Entrate did not file appeal in the Court of
Cassation against the Appeal Court decision.
At the end of 2008, a second notice of assessment was
served for the 2003 tax year, in which Olimpia was
once again classified as a “shell company.” The IRPEG
(corporate income tax) claim amounted to euro 28.5
million (with euro 22.8 million being the portion attributable to the owners of Pirelli & C. S.p.A.), plus penalties
for the same amount.
The Company appealed to the Tax Court of first instance against this tax assessment, which was, like the
other ones, absolutely unfounded. The Tax Court ruled
in favour of the Company. The Agenzia delle Entrate
lodged an appeal against the Trial Tax Court decision.
The Company then submitted its own counter-arguments against that appeal.
Following extinguishment of the similar tax claim previously made for the 2002 tax year and the subsequent
one concerning the 2004 tax year, the Agenzia delle
Entrate requested at the hearing held on October 23,
2012 that discussion of the claims be postponed until
February 26, 2013. After that postponement, the case
was postponed a second time, until September 24,
2013. Both postponements were aimed at preparing a
similar abandonment of the claims, after first obtaining
the necessary authorisation to do so from the Lombardy DRE (Regional Revenue Agency Head Office).
In its own written submission, the Agenzia delle Entrate formally stated its wish to abandon continuation
of its claim regarding the asserted classification of Ol-

impia as a shell company.
The Regional Tax Court accepted this abandonment
of claim, thereby finalising the previous favourable
decision.
Instead, the Agenzia delle Entrate has appealed to the
Court of Cassation against the decision by the Regional
Tax Court to apply the merely formal penalty on the
shareholder loss not reported in the previously submitted income tax return.
The Company in turn, purely in defence of a principle,
is preparing its own counterarguments. In fact, the dispute does not determine the accrual of liabilities.
Finally, at the end of 2009, a third notice of assessment
was served for the 2004 tax year, in which Olimpia was
yet again classified as a “shell company.” The IRES (corporate income tax) claim amounts to euro 29.6 million
(with euro 23.7 million being the portion attributable
to the owners of Pirelli & C. S.p.A.), plus penalties for
the same amount.
This assessment, just like the ones that preceded it, is
absolutely unfounded. Therefore, the Company lodged
an appeal against it too before the Tax Court of first instance, which ruled in favour of the Company just as it
had done before.
The Agenzia delle Entrate lodged an appeal against the
Trial Tax Court decision. The Company then submitted
its own counter-arguments against that appeal.
At the next hearing the appeal court ruled in favour of
the Company, upholding the trial court decision.
Once again, the Agenzia delle Entrate did not appeal
this third tax claim against the “shell companies”, just
as in the case of the 2002 tax year and subsequent
2003 tax year claim. Therefore, this third tax claim
has also been extinguished for failure to appeal to the
Court of Cassation against the Regional Tax Court decision becoming final.

Other contingencies
As part of the investigation by the European Commission on the underground and submarine electric cable
market, Pirelli received notice on July 5, 2011 of charges against it in regard and limited to its status as controlling shareholder of Prysmian Cavi e Sistemi Energia
S.r.l. until July 2005. The Commission has not made
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any charge of direct participation by Pirelli in the alleged cartel.
Pirelli has submitted its own defence arguments in regard to its involvement as parent company and has continued to
maintain its own line of defence during the subsequent phases of the proceeding before the European Commission.
It is expected that the European Commission will issue its decision in 2Q 2014.

29. REVENUE FROM SALES AND SERVICES
The breakdown of revenue from sales and services is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Revenue from sales of goods

2012
6,036,768

Revenue from services

5,969,183

109,392

102,352

6,146,160

6,071,535

30. OTHER INCOME
The breakdown of this account is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Rent income
Insurance indemnities
Recoveries and reimbursements
Government grants
Other income

2012
37,862

22,485

9,831

9,035

8,485

12,676

63,000

59,519

6,483

9,157

126,648

128,758

252,309

241,630

Gains from disposal of property, plant and equipment include euro 31,142 thousand from the sale of several properties not used for the industrial activity in Brazil and euro 2,767 thousand for the disposal of land in Great Britain.
Recoveries and reimbursements mainly consist of taxes and duties refunds totalling euro 26,563 thousand, and
other tax refunds totalling euro 12,606 thousand resulting from tax incentives applied in the Brazilian State of Bahia,
for merchandise manufactured locally and then exported.
The item other income mainly includes income from sports activities for euro 36,270 thousand, income from the
sale of receivables under litigation for euro 13,202 thousand, reversal of provision accrued for the superseded threeyear 2012-2014 incentive plan euro 12,371 thousand, and income from reversal of provisions for liabilities and charges
(euro 22,674 thousand) and provisions for bad debts (euro 7,926 thousand).
The gains resulting from disposal of properties not used for the industrial activity in Brazil (euro 31,142 thousand)
and the income resulting from sale of receivables under litigation (euro 13,202 thousand) are classified as non-re-
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curring events (17.6% of the total). In 2012 non-recurring events included the gains on disposal of properties in Brazil
and the income resulting from elimination of the earn-out associated with the acquisition in Russia, for a total of
euro 29,646 thousand (12.3% of the total).

31. PERSONNEL EXPENSE
The breakdown of this account is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Wages and salaries

937,560

898,059

Social security and welfare contributions

168,049

193,306

Expenses for employees' leaving indemnity
and similar costs (*)

29,498

31,396

Expenses for defined contribution pension funds

20,577

19,798

Expenses for defined benefit pension funds

923

811

Expenses for jubilee awards

888

2,594

Expenses for defined contribution healthcare plans

36,140

39,032

Other costs

18,126

8,931

1,211,761

1,193,927

* Includes Italian and foreign companies

Personnel expense includes non-recurring events for a total amount of euro 45,445 thousand (3.8% of the total),
which include euro 25,447 thousand for restructuring costs (euro 28,827 thousand in 2012, or 2.4% of the total) and
euro 19,998 thousand for charges related to the settlement of a lawsuit in Brazil.

32. AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
The breakdown of this account is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Amortisation

19,016

11,342

Depreciation

269,917

260,065

7,559

10,839

296,492

282,246

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Impairment is essentially related to reduction of the anti-particulate filter activities (in China and Romania), also as
consequence of the focus on the Tyre Business.
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33. OTHER COSTS
The breakdown o this item is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Selling costs

293,627

274,928

Purchases of goods for resale

302,857

381,326

Fluids and power

235,476

228,468

Advertising

200,189

196,208

47,197

54,252

Professional advice
Maintenance

66,223

64,767

Warehouse operating costs

44,908

46,485

Leases, rental and lease instalments

101,619

91,103

36,276

25,350

Travel expenses

47,852

49,252

IT expenses

27,060

26,156

7,724

6,255

Outsourcing

Compensation of key managers
Other provisions

32,542

13,352

Duty stamps, duties and local taxes

37,263

35,876

Canteen

18,047

14,014

Bad debts

6,250

8,129

Insurance

29,579

27,149

Cleaning expenses

19,533

17,756

Waste disposal

23,295

26,286

Security expenses

12,286

12,234

Telephone expenses

11,109

11,556

226,639

180,769

1,827,550

1,791,671

Other

It includes euro 2,716 thousand qualified as non-recurring events (0.1% of the total) related to the real estate gains
realised in Brazil.
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34. NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS
34.1 Share of net income (loss) of associates
and joint ventures
The Group’s share of net income (loss) of associates and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method was
negative for euro 25,835 thousand, compared to the negative result of euro 21,293 thousand in 2012.
This result mainly consists of the amounts recognised for the shareholding in RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. (negative for euro
13,573 thousand, compared with the negative result of euro 20,132 thousand in 2012), in Prelios S.p.A. (negative for euro
12,838 thousand), in Sino Italian Wire Technology Co. Ltd (positive for euro 350 thousand in 2013, compared to the negative result of euro 2,453 thousand in 2012), in GWM Renewable Energy II S.p.A. (negative for euro 191 thousand, compared to the negative result of euro 1,568 thousand in 2012) and in PT Evoluzione Tyre (positive for euro 637 thousand).
To this regard, reference should be also made to the previous note 11 “Investments in associates and joint ventures”.

34.2 Gains on equity investments
The breakdown is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Fair value adjustment of RCS Mediagroup S.p.A

2012
8,638

Other gains on equity investments

-

913

513

9,551

513

With regard to the fair value adjustment of RCS Mediagroup S.p.A., reference should be made to the previous note
11 “Investments in associates and joint ventures”.

34.3 Losses from equity investments
The breakdown of this item is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Impairment of financial assets avaible-for-sale

19,018

Evaluation of financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss

44,286

-

-

69

63,304

33,359

Other losses on investments

33,290

The impairment of financial assets available for sale refers mainly to the investments in Mediobanca S.p.A (euro
10,429 thousand), Alitalia S.p.A. (euro 4,925 thousand), Equinox Two SCA (euro 1,232 thousand), Fin. Priv. S.r.l. (euro
1,345 thousand) and S.In.T S.p.A (euro 917 thousand). In 2012 this item mainly included impairment of the investment
in Mediobanca S.p.A. (euro 16,805 thousand), F.C. Internazionale Milano S.p.A. (euro 6,655 thousand), Alitalia S.p.A.
(euro 4,775 thousand) and Fin. Priv. S.r.l. (euro 4,217 thousand).
The evaluation of financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss refers to the impairment of the
equity instrument of Prelios S.p.A. (“convertendo”) owned by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. following the financial reorganisation
of Prelios S.p.A. In this regard, also refer to note 12 – Other financial assets.
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34.4 Dividends
The dividends received in 2013 totalled euro 1,290 thousand and mainly refer to euro 610 thousand from mutual
funds (euro 924 thousand in 2012), euro 103 thousand from Fin. Priv. S.r.l. (same amount as in 2012) and euro 481
thousand from Sint S.p.A..

35. FINANCIAL INCOME
The breakdown of this account is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Interest

31,170

35,520

Other financial income

10,180

7,492

353

-

Fair value measurement of securities held for trading
Fair value measurement of currency derivatives

23,084

-

64,787

43,012

Interest relates mainly to interest on interest rate swaps for euro 9,551 thousand (euro 3,194 thousand in 2012) and
interest on fixed income securities for euro 8,622 thousand (euro 6,123 thousand in 2012). In 2012 this item also included euro 13,467 thousand of interests beared on the financial receivable from Prelios S.p.A., which was converted
into equity instruments in 2013.
Other financial income includes interest income on receivables claimed from the Brazilian tax authorities for euro
5,688 thousand and income for euro 3,211 thousand from the basis adjustment of the financial liabilities that were
hedged against interest rate risk, for which fair value hedge accounting has been applied.
This adjustment is offset by the negative change in fair value of the hedging instrument included in the financial expenses recognised in the income statement as “Fair value measurement of other derivative instruments” (see note 36).
Fair value measurement of currency derivatives relates to forward purchases/sales of foreign currencies to hedge
commercial and financial transactions, in accordance with the Group foreign exchange risk management policy. For
transactions outstanding at the end of the year, the fair value is determined using the forward exchange rate at the
reporting date. Measurement at fair value is made up of two elements: the interest component linked to the interest
rate spread between the two currencies subject to the individual hedges, a net hedging cost of euro 35,219 thousand,
and the exchange rate component, a net gain of euro 58,303 thousand.
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36. FINANCIAL EXPENSES
The breakdown of this account is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Interest

2012
119,105

106,388

Commissions

19,987

20,865

High inflation effect

18,680

6,427

1,870

4,588

Net losses on exchange rates

73,576

24,356

Net interest costs on employee benefit obligations

19,374

20,969

Other financial expenses

Fair value measurement of securities held for trading

-

85

Fair value measurement of currency derivatives

-

7,041

8,027

2,733

260,619

193,452

Fair value measurement of other derivatives

Interest includes euro 26,673 thousand on the bond issued by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. in 2011 (euro 26,620 thousand in
2012), euro 5,894 thousand on the private placement made by Pirelli International Ltd on the American market at
the end of 2012 (euro 419 thousand in 2012) and euro 18,262 thousand for interest on interest rate swaps (euro
18,829 thousand in 2012).
The net losses on exchange rates of euro 73,576 thousand (losses from exchange rate of euro 886,008 thousand
and gains from exchange rate of euro 812,432 thousand) refer to adjustment to year-end exchange rates of items expressed in currencies other than the functional currency outstanding at the reporting date and the net losses realised
on items closed during the financial year.
Comparison of these net losses with the fair value measurement of the foreign exchange component of currency hedges negotiated as part of the Group currency risk management strategy (net gain of euro 58,304 thousand,
as previously indicated at the item “fair value measurement of currency derivatives” included in “financial income”)
shows that management of foreign exchange risk is substantially in balance, considering that the negative unbalance,
amounting to euro 15,272 thousand, is mainly related to the devaluation for euro 8,539 thousand of the local currency
by the Venezuelan subsidiary and the losses from foreign exchange for euro 2,270 thousand of the Egyptian subsidiary.
Net interest cost on employee benefit obligations includes the new measure introduced by the revised version of
IAS 19 – Employee Benefits, which came into force on January 1, 2013, and which replaced the “expected return on
plan assets” and the “interest expense”. The net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate previously used
only for the gross liability to the net liability (i.e. the gross liability net of the plan assets). This item mainly consists of
euro 13,854 thousand for pension funds, euro 1,446 thousand for employees' leaving indemnities (TFR), and euro 710
thousand for healthcare plans (see note 22 "Employee benefit obligations").
Fair value measurement of other derivative instruments (see note 27 “Derivative financial instruments”) mainly
consists of:
negative amount for euro 4,399 thousand related to the reclassification in the Income Statement of losses that
were previously accumulated in equity and referred to interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting was
interrupted (negative for euro 3,749 thousand in 2012);
euro 3,211 thousand of fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps made to hedge the interest rate associated
with financial liabilities, for which hedge accounting (fair value hedge) has been implemented (positive for euro
653 thousand in 2012).

5
2
2

Annual Financial Report at December 31, 2013

Consolidated Financial Statements

37. INCOME TAXES
The breakdown of the income taxes for the period is as follows
(in thousands of euro)

2013

2012

Current taxes

209,307

195,031

1,085

3,194

210,392

198,225

Deferred taxes

The reconciliation between theoretical taxes and effective taxes is presented below
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Income (loss) before income taxes
Reversal of net income (loss) of associates and joint ventures

2012
516,884

599,073

25,835

21,293

A) Total taxable income

542,719

620,366

B) Theoretical taxes

174,877

206,724

Main causes for changes between theoretical and effective taxes:
Income not subject to taxation

(59,012)

(54,819)

Non-deductible costs

43,579

47,063

Use of tax losses carried forward

(2,894)

(7,897)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and/or release of deferred tax assets previously
recognised

36,829

20,269

Taxes not related to income and costs for tax assessment

42,792

17,792

Oher

(25,779)

(30,908)

C) Effective taxes

210,392

198,225

Theoretical Tax rate (B/A)

32%

33%

Effective tax rate (C/A)

39%

32%

The Group’s effective tax burden for 2013 is mainly attributable to taxes payable by the Tyre Business (euro 176,617
thousand) for the positive taxable income of its subsidiaries.
The amount of taxes also includes accounting recognition by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. of the positive effects deriving from
the option for domestic tax consolidation.
The total tax burden reflects the impact resulting from assessment of the sustainability of deferred tax assets recognised in relation to prior-period tax losses.
The percentage of effective taxes in relation to total taxable income was 39%, considering the impairment of the Prelios S.p.A. “convertendo”, which negatively impacted on pre-tax income.
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The Group’s theoretical tax burden is calculated taking into account the nominal tax rates of the countries where the
Group’s principal companies operate, as shown below
2013

2012

Europe
Italy

31.40%

31.40%

Germany

29.55%

29.48%

Rumania

16.00%

16.00%

Great Britain

23.25%

24.50%

Turkey

20.00%

20.00%

Russia

20.00%

20.00%

USA

40.00%

40.00%

Mexico

30.00%

30.00%

Argentina

35.00%

35.00%

Brazil

34.00%

34.00%

Venezuela

34.00%

34.00%

25.00%

25.00%

25.00%

25.00%

NAFTA

Central and South America

Asia / Pacific
China
Middle East / Africa
Egypt

The nominal tax rate in Great Britain fell from 24.50% in 2012 to 23.25% in 2013, in accordance with local tax laws
(Finance Act 2012).

38. EARNINGS (LOSSES) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (losses) per share are given by the ratio between net income (loss) attributable to the owners of the
parent (adjusted to take into account the minimum dividend allocated to savings shares) and the weighted average of
the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, with the exclusion of treasury shares.
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Net income (loss) attributable to owners of the Parent
Net income (loss) attributable to savings shares reflecting 2% minimum dividend
Adjusted net income (loss) attributable to owners of the Parent
Basic earning (loss) per ordinary share (in euro per share)
Weighted average of outstanding ordinary shares (in thousands)

2012
303,574

387,109

(7,523)

(9,593)

296,051

377,516

0.623

0.794

475,389

475,389

The diluted earnings (losses) per share have not been calculated because, following expiration of the stock option
plans, the prerequisites for such calculation are not met.
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39. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
In 1H 2013, Pirelli & C. S.p.A. paid to its shareholders dividends based on 2012 earnings equal to euro 0.32 per each of
the 475,388,592 ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) and euro 0.39 per each of the 11,842,969 savings shares
(excluding treasury shares). The total dividends paid out amounted to euro 156,743 thousand.
In 2012 Pirelli & C. S.p.A. paid to its shareholders dividends based on 2011 earnings equal to euro 0.27 per ordinary
share (excluding treasury shares) and euro 0.34 per savings share (excluding treasury shares). The total dividends paid
out amounted to euro 132,382 thousand.

40. HYPERINFLATION
In accordance with Group accounting policies regarding the criteria for introducing/ending inflation accounting, the
subsidiary Pirelli de Venezuela C.A. adopted inflation accounting since the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements at December 31, 2009. It is the only Group company operating in a high-inflation country. For this purpose, a
blended price index has been used: a consumer price index (IPC) covering only the cities of Caracas and Maracaibo was
used until December 31, 2007. Beginning in 2008 the Banco Central de Venezuela and the National Institute for Statistics
started to publish a national consumer price index (Indice Nacional de precios al consumidor - INPC) that covers the
entire country and uses December 2007 as its basis for calculation.
Index

Conversion Factor

December 31, 2011

265.6

December 31, 2012

318.9

1.2007
1.5619

December 31, 2013

498.1

1.0000

The losses on the net monetary position are recognised in the income statement as “Financial expenses” (note 36) for
an amount of euro 18,680 thousand (euro 6,427 thousand in 2012).
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions, including intercompany transactions, are neither unusual nor exceptional, but are part of
the ordinary course of business of Group companies. Such transactions, when not carried out at standard conditions
or dictated by specific laws, are settled on an arm’s length basis and executed in compliance with the rules set out in
the Group Procedure for Related Party Transactions.
The statement below shows a summary of the statement of financial position, income statement and statement of
cash flows that includes transactions with related parties and their percentage impact
(in millions of euro)

Total reported
at 12.31.2013

of which
related
parties

Total reported
at 12.31.2012

% share

of which
related
parties

% share

BALANCE SHEET
Non-current assets
Other financial assets

289.1

104.1

36.00%

118.1

-

-

Other receivables

169.5

-

-

370.2

174.0

46.99%

Current assets
Trade receivables

666.4

1.4

0.21%

704.6

6.4

0.91%

Other receivables

267.5

8.5

3.17%

341.4

40.5

11.87%

2,014.4

1.7

0.08%

1,995.8

2.6

0.13%

316.7

-

-

440.5

0.9

0.20%

Trade payables

1,244.5

41.1

3.30%

1,268.7

5.3

0.42%

Other payables

434.2

0.1

0.02%

417.6

0.1

0.03%

80.3

0.6

0.75%

-

-

-

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings from banks
and other financial institutions
Current liabilities
Borrowings from banks
and other financial institutions

Tax payables

of which
related
parties

2013

% share

of which
related
parties

2012

% share

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenues from sales and services
Other income

6,146.2

1.9

0.03%

6,071.5

3.8

0.06%

252.3

3.1

1.24%

241.6

0.8

0.35%

Personnel expenses

(1,211.8)

(3.4)

0.28%

(1,193.9)

(9.4)

0.78%

Other costs

(1,827.6)

(70.1)

3.83%

(1,791.7)

(40.3)

2.25%

Financial incomes
Taxes

64.8

1.5

2.36%

43.0

14.4

33.41%

(210.4)

(0.6)

0.29%

(198.2)

-

-

(55.3)

(55.3)

100.00%

-

-

-

(9.9)

(0.6)

5.62%

3.6

(0.8)

n.s.

Cash flow
Acquisition of equity investments
in associates and joint ventures
Disposals/(Acquisition) of equity
investments
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The effects of related party transactions on the consolidated income statement, statement of financial position, and
statement of cash flows of the Pirelli & C. Group at December 31, 2013 are shown below
RELATIONS WITH ASSOCIATES and JV (in millions of euro)

Revenues from sales and services

1.6

The amount mainly concerns services provided by: Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. (euro 0,6 million) and Pirelli Steelcord S.r.l. (euro 0.1 million) to Sino Italian Wire Technology Co.
Ltd; Pirelli & C. Ambiente S.p.A. to Idea Granda Società Consortile S.r.l. (euro 0.6
million); Poliambulatorio Bicocca S.r.l. to Prelios S.p.A. (euro 0.2 million) and costs
recovered by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. from Fenice S.r.l. (euro 0.1 million).

Other incomes

2.9

The amount mainly refers to rental income and associated operating expenses to
Prelios Group (euro 2.2 million) and services provided by Pirelli Tyre Co. Ltd to Sino
Italian Wire Technology Co. Ltd. (euro 0.3 million).

47.6

The amount mainly concerns: costs for purchase of products of Pirelli Tyre Co. Ltd
(euro 21.6 million) from Sino Italian Wire Technology Co. Ltd., purchase of energy of
Pirelli Deutschland GmbH from Industriekraftwerk Breuberg GmbH (euro 25.2 milion), services provided by CORIMAV to Pirelli & C. S.p.A. (euro 0.2 million) and other
services received by Prelios Group S.p.A. (euro 0.1 million).

Financial incomes

1.5

The amount relates to interest income on the loan granted by Pirelli International
Ltd (euro 0.4 milion) and Pirelli Tyre Co. Ltd (euro 0.7 million) to Sino Italian Wire Technology Co. Ltd. and to interest income on the loan granted by Pirelli & C. Ambiente
S.r.l. to GWM Renewable Energy II S.p.A. (euro 0.4 million).

Taxes

0.6

The amount refers to tax charges due to the companies of Prelios Group participating to the Tax Consolidation.

Other costs

Other financial assets

104.1

The amount concerns the convertible loan of Prelios S.p.A..

Current trade receivables

1.1

The amount mainly concerns receivables for services provided by: Pirelli Tyre S.p.A.
to Prelios Group (euro 0.3 million) and PT Evoluzione Tyre (euro 0.1 million); Pirelli &
C. Ambiente S.r.l. to Idea Granda Società Consortile S.r.l. (euro 0.4 million) and Pirelli
& C. S.p.A. to Fenice S.r.l. (euro 0.1 million).

Current other receivables

0.3

The amount concerns: receivable by the disposal of Pirelli & C. Ambiente S.r.l. plant
to GWM Renewable Energy II S.p.A. (euro 0.3 million).

Current financial receivables

8.2

The amount concerns mainly of receivables of: Pirelli & C. Ambiente S.r.l. to GWM
Renewable Energy II S.p.A. (euro 8.2 million).

Non-current borrowings from banks
and other financial institutions

1.7

Guarantee deposit to Prelios Group.

Current trade payables

37.8

The amount consists of payables for services provided by Industriekraftwerk Breuberg GmbH to Pirelli Deutschland GmbH (euro 37.5 million) for energy purchases
and by Pirelli & C. S.p.A. to Prelios Group S.p.A. (euro 0.1 million) and Corimav (euro
0.1 million).

Current other payables

0.1

The amount refers to payables of Pirelli & C. S.p.A. to Prelios S.p.A. for R&D building
rental.

Tax payables

0.6

The amount refers to payables to the companies of Prelios Group participating to
the Tax Consolidation.

55.4

The amount mainly relates to the subscription of the share capital in the associated
companies Fenice S.r.l. ( euro 23.0 million), RCS Mediagroup S.p.A. (euro 21.3 million)
and in the indonesian company JV PT Evoluzione Tyre (euro 10.4 million).

Cash flow - increase in share capital
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES THROUGH DIRECTORS (in millions of euro)
Revenues from sales and services

0.3

The amount refers to services provided by Poliambulatorio Bicocca S.r.l., Pirelli Sistemi Informativi S.p.A. and Pirelli & C. S.p.A. to Camfin Group.

Other income

0.3

The amount mainly refers to rental income and related operating expenses to Camfin Group (euro 0,1 million).

Other costs

13.0

The amount refers to advertising costs owed to FC Internazionale Milano S.p.A..

Current trade receivables

0.2

The amount refers to receivables connected to the services provided to Camfin
Group.

Current trade payables

3.3

The amount refers to payables to FC Internazionale Milano S.p.A. for sponsorship
agreement as detailed above.

Cash outflow for share capital increase

0.6

This refers to the share capital increase of F.C. Internazionale Milano S.p.A..

TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES (in milllions of euro)
Other costs

1.8

The amount mainly refers to insurance costs of Pirelli Industrie Pneumatici S.r.l. (euro
0.2 million), Pirelli Tyre S.p.A. (euro 1,1 million) and Pirelli & C. S.p.A. (euro 0.4 million)
owed to Allianz S.p.A., Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. and Fonsai S.p.A..

Benefits for key managers of the Company
The remuneration payable to key managers, i.e. to those who have the power and responsibility, directly or indirectly,
for planning, managing and controlling the business of Pirelli & C. S.p.A., totalled euro 11,086 thousand in 2013 (euro
15,620 thousand in 2012). The portion relating to employee benefits was recognised in the income statement as
“personnel expense” for euro 3,362 thousand (euro 9,365 thousand in 2012) and euro 7,724 thousand in the income
statement as “other costs” (euro 6,255 thousand in 2012). The remuneration also includes euro 960 thousand for employees' leaving indemnity (TFR) and retirement benefits (euro 983 thousand in 2012).

42. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE YEAR
On January 16, 2014, following up on the decision by the World Motor Sport Council that confirmed Pirelli as sole
supplier of tyres to the FIA Formula One World Championship, Pirelli announced that it had renewed that agreement
with FIA. The duration of the agreement is three years, beginning with the 2014 season. Pirelli will continue to define
the tyre specifications and manage all aspects of their development, in close collaboration with FIA and the teams,
and within the parameters established by the FIA Formula One Sporting and Technical Regulations.
On February 28, 2014 Pirelli & C. S.p.A. and Bekaert announced that they entered into an agreement to sale 100% of
the Pirelli steel cord activities to Bekaert at the enterprise value of about euro 255 million. The sale of the steel cord
business enables Pirelli to withdraw from a business which is too small to be competitive, and to focus on the premium tyre segment, which has higher profit margins. As part of the sale and purchase agreement, a long-term agreement was also made for long-term supply and joint development of products to boost R&D activities and guarantee
that the transition to the new agreement be consistent with the companies' respective growth and development
plans. The closing of the deal, which is subject to regulatory approval, is expected to occur in the second half of the
year and will affect all five of the Pirelli steel cord plants located in Italy, Turkey, Romania, China and Brazil.
On February 28, 2014 Pirelli & C. S.p.A. announced that effective from December 31, 2013, the medium-long term
management cash incentive plan – Long Term Incentive (LTI) – adopted in 2012 in support of the 2012-2014 threeyear objectives was closed without any pay-out, either full or pro-rated, of the three-year incentive. The Company
announced that a new plan was adopted – also applicable to all of management (about 330 participants) – related to
the targets for the period 2014-2016 contained in the business plan presented on November 6, 2013. Consistently with
the variable compensation mechanisms adopted internationally, the three-year LTI plan is also based on the performance of Pirelli stock (“TSR”) and makes it possible to align the interests of management with those of shareholders.
Just like previous plans, the 2014-2016 plan is entirely self-funded, insofar as the related expenses are included in the
financial figures of the Industrial Plan. Participants in the LTI Plan 2014-2016 include, inter alia, the Chairman and Chief
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Executive Officer of Pirelli & C., Marco Tronchetti Provera, the Deputy Chairman, Alberto Pirelli (as senior manager),
the General Manager Operations, Gregorio Borgo, the key managers Maurizio Boiocchi (Chief Technical Officer), Maurizio Sala (Chief Planning and Controlling Officer), Francesco Tanzi (Chief Financial Officer and Financial Reporting
Manager) and Christian Vasino (Chief Human Resources Officer).

43. OTHER INFORMATION
Research and development expenses
Research expenses rose from euro 178.9 million in 2012 (2.9% of sales) to euro 199.2 million in 2013 (3.2% of sales).
They were expensed on the income statement as incurred as they did not meet IFRS requirements for capitalisation.

Compensation of directors and statutory auditors
(in thousands of euro)

2013
Directors
Statutory Auditors

2012
6,928

5,351

200

189

7,128

5,540

Employees
The breakdown by category of the average consolidated headcount of employees is as follows
2013
Executives and white collar staff
Blue collar staff
Temporary workers
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2012
7,461

7,060

27,593

26,595

2,701

2,729

37,755

36,384

Compensation of independent auditors
The following statement, prepared pursuant to Article 149–duodecies of the Consob Issuers Regulation, shows the
fees accruing to financial year 2013 for auditing services and for services other than auditing, rendered by the accounting firm Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. and by entities belonging to its network
(in thousands of euro)

Independent auditing
services and certification
services (1)

Services other
than auditing

Company that provided the service

Company that
received the service

Partial
fees

Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A.

Pirelli & C. S.p.A.

Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A.

Subsidiaries

705

Network Ernst & Young

Subsidiaries

1,811

Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A.

Pirelli & C. S.p.A.

Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A.

Subsidiaries

35 (2)

Network Ernst & Young

Subsidiaries

1 (3)

Total fees

530

3,046

98.8%

36

1.2%

3,082

100.0%

 he item "independent auditing services and certification services" includes amounts paid for auditing services and other services that envisage the issuanT
ce of an auditor's report as well as amounts paid for the so called certification services since they create synergies with the auditing services.
(2)
Supporting activities for the Framework consolidation of critical suppliers and for the assessment in an additional production site.
(3)
Tax assistance services.
(1)

Transactions resulting from unusual and/or exceptional operations
Pursuant to Consob Notice of July 28, 2006, the Group certifies that any unusual and/or exceptional transaction was
carried out in 2013, as defined in the Notice itself.

Exchange rates
The main exchange rates used for consolidation purposes are as follows
(local currency against euro)

Period-end
12.31.2013

12.31.2012

Change
in %

Change
in %

Average
2013

2012

Venezuelan Bolivar Fuerte

8.6883

5.6734

53.14%

8.6883

5.6734

53.14%

Swedish Krona

8.8591

8.5820

3.23%

8.6513

8.7052

(0.62%)

Australian Dollar

1.5423

1.2712

21.33%

1.3769

1.2413

10.92%

Canadian Dollar

1.4671

1.3137

11.68%

1.3681

1.2846

6.50%

Singaporean Dollar

1.7414

1.6111

8.09%

1.6615

1.6059

3.46%

U.S. Dollar

1.3791

1.3194

4.52%

1.3279

1.2854

3.31%

41.0572

38.2666

7.29%

39.4096

38.0010

3.71%

Taiwan Dollar
Swiss Franc

1.2276

1.2072

1.69%

1.2308

1.2053

2.12%

Egyptian Pound

9.5821

8.3964

14.12%

9.1343

7.8059

17.02%

Turkish Lira (new)

2.9418

2.3630

24.49%

2.5345

2.3153

9.47%

New Romanian Leu

4.4710

4.4445

0.60%

4.4191

4.4581

(0.88%)
24.47%

Argentinian Peso

8.9931

6.4888

38.59%

7.2835

5.8516

Mexican Peso

18.0291

17.1902

4.88%

16.9666

16.9191

0.28%

South African Rand

14.5660

11.1727

30.37%

12.8251

10.5537

21.52%

3.2265

2.6962

19.67%

2.8716

2.5129

14.27%

Brazilian Real
Chinese Renminbi
Russian Ruble

8.4082

8.2931

1.39%

8.2243

8.1140

1.36%

44.9699

40.2286

11.79%

42.4001

39.9083

6.24%

British Pound

0.8337

0.8161

2.16%

0.8490

0.8110

4.68%

Japanese Yen

144.7200

113.6100

27.38%

129.6245

102.6099

26.33%
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Only 29 years old, director Sandin Puce
is originally from Bosnia Herzegovina,
but studied directing at the prestigious
Film Academy in Ludwigsburg, Germany.
He won the 2013 Young Director Award,
given in conjunction with the Cannes
Film Festival, for his film “Frenki”.
He was a co-founder of the Film Club
and the Short Film Festival in Mostar,
and has worked on projects for companies
like Adidas, Johnnie Walker and Opel,
as well as working for the New York
film critic Howard Feinstein.
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into which his work enters. This is an issue for writers in the most-part,
but more pressingly, I think for script-writers and writers for cinema.
He was also interested in exploring the connection between producers,
artists and creatives and the general populace, and what they might
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Sandin was interested in the relationship between the artists and the marketplace

want from an artist, what was expected of the artist, and what
an artist might want to say about this relationship. This was
a question that arose repeatedly: what is the relation between
the public and the artist, and how do they influence each other?
Sandin seemed to be of the opinion, somewhat congruent
with my own, that the job of the artist was to lead the public
– as modernism saw itself doing. The public cannot be sure
of what it wants until the artist presents them with an idea,

29 years old, Bosnian

criticism and reverence come thereafter. In some sense,
he suggested, the artist has to be ahead of the public

2013: Young Director Award –
Film Festival di Cannes

in terms of taste, they can then be lead.
His presentation, a sketch for a film, sought to investigate
the rapid technological advancements in the world
with the effort of its human population. A wheel rotated
in the centre of the screen, and as we get closer we see
interlocking limbs; hands grasping feet, faces contorted;
a human drive chain. Through a window in this Brueghelian
drama, we witness the developing world, its growth animated
by the movement of the human wheel. Sandin’s filmography
is prodigious, he’s made adverts for some really big companies,
and each one has been highly conceptual; mixing his unique style
with an underlying philosophical idea. They are like charged
short stories, potent and immediate.
[Hanif Kureishi]
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SANDIN PUCE

Spinning the wheel

Do you consider your talent a gift or a burden?
I definitely see my talent as a great gift. The nice thing
about this kind of gift is that it’s always changing,
not like you are getting a computer or another
object that does not evolve.
What you would do if one day you woke up
and discovered you had lost your talent?
I would search for it in books, galleries, films
and people until I found it again.
Who is the living talent you most admire?
People who pursue their dreams and beliefs
What do you like about your talent
and what don’t you like?
With my talent I never feel alone, and I like
that very much. On the other hand, it takes
a lot of time, like a little child, where you have
sometimes less time for "normal" life.
When or where does your talent make you happy?
Always when I have a new idea, I'm happy.
If you could change your talent, how you would change it?
Honestly, I have no need to change it even I could,
because it is constantly changing itself and thus me too.
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Spinning the wheel

MY w
h

SANDIN PUCE
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My wheel is not something physical,
but mental, human, a driving force
that can put us in motion. My wheel
is a human wheel, realised through
an animated movie, in which we see our
world spinning faster and faster. I strongly
believe that we need to constantly work
on our inner wheels. Only if we manage
to invent our own inner force can we invent
new things that make our life easier.
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Annual Financial Report at December 31, 2013

Consolidated Financial Statements

Net financial (liquidity)/debt position
(alternative performance measure not envisaged by the accounting standards)
(in migliaia di euro)

Note

12.31.2013

12.31.2012
of which
related
parties

of which
related
parties
Current borrowing from banks and other financial institutions

23

316,653

Current derivative financial instruments (liabilities)

27

3,175

Non-current borrowing from banks and other financial
institutions

23

2,014,406

Total gross debt

-

1,674

2,334,234

440,526

877

19,168

-

1,995,775

2,565

2,455,469

Cash and cash equivalents

19

(879,897)

-

(679,794)

-

Securities held for trading

18

(48,090)

-

(224,717)

-

Current financial receivables

15

(17,738)

8,234

(66,290)

(38,723)

Current derivative financial instruments (assets)

27

(6,666)

-

(18,136)

-

1,381,843

-

1,466,532

-

(59,460)

-

(261,327)

(173,506)

Net financial debt *
Non-current financial receivables
Total net financial (liquidity) debt position

15

1,322,383

1,205,205

* Pursuant to Consob Notice of July 28, 2006 and in compliance with CESR recommendation of February 10, 2005 "Recommendations for the consistent
implementation of the European Commission regulation on Prospectuses".

Gross debt decreased by euro 121.3 million from December 31, 2012, falling from euro 2,455.5 million to euro
2,334.2 million.
Following conclusion of the capital transaction resolved by Prelios S.p.A. at the end of March 2013, aimed at relaunching the business development prospects of the real estate group and strengthening the financial position of the group
owned by Prelios S.p.A., as well as rebalancing its overall financial structure, and as accepted by Pirelli, the non-current portion of the financial receivable of euro 173.5 million outstanding at December 31, 2012 was converted into
Prelios S.p.A. ordinary shares for euro 21.5 million, into equity instruments (the “convertendo”) for euro 148.4 million,
while the remaining euro 3.6 million was repaid by Prelios and thus collected.
The reduction in non-current financial receivables also reflected the recognition in Brazil of the release and consequent collection of about euro 19 million in escrow deposits for tax litigation and lawsuits.
In regard to current financial receivables, the reduction from December 2012 includes about euro 33 million resulting
from the effects of the full consolidation of the Chinese subsidiary operating in the steel cord business at December
31, 2013 (previously classified as an associate and toward which there was a financial receivable at December 31, 2012).
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